

Ethicality as a trend in the future wine market

Timo Tuomi

Haaga-Helia University of Applied Sciences Bachelor's Thesis 2022 Bachelor of Hospitality, Tourism and Experience management

Abstract

Author(s) Timo Tuomi

Degree

Bachelor of Hospitality, Tourism and Experience Manage

Report/thesis title

Ethicality as a trend in the future wine market

Number of pages and appendix pages 53+9

Predicting future trends can be valuable for companies working in the wine industry. To understand the future trends, futurists often conduct trend analysis' that contemplate changing consumer behaviour through megatrends and weak signals. Megatrends are trends that are slow to form and influence on a global scale, where weak signals refer to issues that are potentially emerging that could have significance in the future.

In the wine industry many organizations conduct trend reports to keep up with the current demand and to enhance their position in the market. When predicting trends, the scholars own background and motives influence the results deducted from the given signals. Understanding the changes in present is the base when creating different scenarios that could take place in the future.

The purpose of this thesis was to identify the most important future trends taking place in the Finnish wine market. The research was designed to be beneficial for the companies involved in the wine trade. The results of this thesis can be helpful in preparedness for the future, creating marketing strategies, and to conduct more efficient trend analyses.

The theoretical framework focuses on defining the term trend more specifically and clarify the roles people have in the creation and spread of trends and about the ways trends can be predicted. Megatrends that have the most impact on the future wine market are researched and the role of weak signals in trend analyses. Study of consumer behaviour reveals what kind of factors influence consumer decision making and how consumers choose their wines.

Ethicality in wine trade was examined more closely. This included ethicality in the wine trade, ecologically produced wines, health trends impacting consumer behaviour and the rising demand for no-and low alcohol products.

Qualitative research was conducted by semi-structured interview for two experts from the Finnish wine market. Representing Alko and wine importing company called Viinitie. Due to the subjective nature of trend research the emphasis of the thesis was on the literature research.

The research results indicated that the future consumers will increasingly favour ethically and ecologically produced wines. A rising segment among wines will be the no- and low alcohol (NoLo) products. These findings we're in line with Alko's latest trend report.

Keywords

Wine, trends, megatrends, weak signals, ethicality, health

Table of contents

| 1 Introduction | | oduction | 1 | |
|------------------------|---|--|----|--|
| | 1.1 | Benefits | 3 | |
| | 1.2 | Delimitations | 3 | |
| 2 Defining t | | ining trends | 4 | |
| | 2.1 | How to predict trends? | 8 | |
| | 2.2 | Weak signals, complementing trend research | 10 | |
| | 2.3 | The inevitable Megatrends | 12 | |
| | 2.4 | Consumer behaviour in marketing | 16 | |
| | 2.5 | How and why consumers choose wines? | 19 | |
| 3 | Ethi | cality in wine trade – more than a trend | 22 | |
| | 3.1 | Ecological wines are relevant in the future market | 25 | |
| | 3.2 | Health trends affecting wine consumption | 29 | |
| | 3.3 | The rise of low-alcohol and alcohol-free products | 31 | |
| 4 Research methodology | | earch methodology | 33 | |
| | 4.1 | Qualitative research | 33 | |
| | 4.2 | Research design | 34 | |
| | 4.3 | Data collection | 35 | |
| | 4.4 | Data analysis methods | 35 | |
| 5 Data and results | | a and results | 36 | |
| | 5.1 | Theme one; consumer trends | 36 | |
| | 5.2 | Theme two; megatrends and weak signals | 38 | |
| | 5.3 | Theme three; wine trends | 40 | |
| | 5.4 | Findings outside the scope of the thesis | 42 | |
| | 5.5 | Reflection on the interview | 44 | |
| 6 | 6 Key findings | | 46 | |
| | 6.1 | Discussion | 48 | |
| | 6.2 | Recommendations | 51 | |
| | 6.3 | Suggestion for future research | 51 | |
| | 6.4 | Reflection and learning | 53 | |
| Re | References | | | |
| | Appendix 1. Qualitative interview questions64 | | | |

1 Introduction

Trends are something people often take for granted, but still have different definitions for. When predicting the future, current trends are often used as a tool to support the visions that we might have about it. Defining trends and taking a closer look on how they are generated reveals us the mechanics of trends, as well as the segments people usually represent in the spread of trends. The distinction between a trend and a fad is mainly the time span of their impact. Trends are seen as evolving over time, while building popularity, as fads are defined as a style, activity, or interest that is very popular for a short period of time (Cambridge dictionary 2022). They both have an important role in the wine market of Finland. Like their general definition, trends impact sales for longer review periods, as fads may impact sales more steeply, but for a shorter period of time.

When immersing oneself into literature it becomes clear that predicting trends is not about foreseeing the future, and even the best predictions are only indicative. However, there are methods that can be helpful in creating better organizational strategies for the future (Hiltunen 2016, 215). This thesis has been written from the point of view of marketing, so that it could assist Finnish wine marketers in their preparedness for the future. When reviewing the latest literature, it reveals insights that can be used as an advantage when creating a wine marketing strategy. The study of consumer behaviour from a marketing perspective allows us to better understand what kind of reasoning consumers use when purchasing products. To supplement general consumer behaviour patterns the study of consumer behaviour is researched more specifically from a wine marketing perspective. The research of wine consumer typology reveals the factors impacting consumer decision making when choosing wines.

To understand the future, we must first understand the changes in motion that are impacting the future. Major changes on the global level referred to as megatrends are shaping the present and future into a direction that is widely acknowledged by scientific communities. Study of megatrends should be a premise when creating trend analysis', Furthermore, there are underlying changes in the environment referred to as weak signals. Futurists detect these signals to complement trend analyses and to create alternate scenarios that could take place in the future. When creating future trend predictions, it becomes clear that there can be widely alternating scenarios of the future that are also closely linked to the scholars' own motives and worldview. There is a section in this thesis dedicated to the prediction of trends to further illuminate the methods and factors associated with the process.

The technological development over the last century has changed the world profoundly. People spend great deals of time online and news travel in an instant. This has made us more aware of the world around us and to reflect our own position in the world. The growing awareness has led to more enlightened consumers. Megatrends like climate change have changed the decision making on governmental level and impacted the mindset of average consumers. Nowadays, many are taking actions to reduce the negative impacts they have on the environment. Ethicality and transparency in actions is becoming a requirement, as people want to deal with responsible companies. Nowadays, consuming can also be about taking a stand, as ethical and green labels are designed to reduce negative impacts on social and environmental issues through consumer choice. The shifting attitudes have fundamental impacts on different industries. Wine industry is no exception. From the perspective of wine marketing changing consumer behaviour and change in public opinions pose a challenge. The growing demand for ethically and sustainably produced products is shaping the industry from wine producers to wine consumers. However, wines produced using ecological methods are still dividing opinions among consumers and experts. The study of green consumer behaviour is an intriguing and a complex field that is examined closely in this thesis.

Because of the growing awareness, people have started to reconsider their lifestyle choices. According to the statistics Finnish people live substantially healthier lives than 20 years ago (Hiltunen 2016, 139.) The alcohol consumption has been decreasing since 2007. Favouring healthier lifestyles has been a pivotal part in the rise of low-alcohol- and alcohol-free products. In the year 2021 the Finnish alcohol distribution monopoly (for alcoholic beverages over 5,5 percentage alcohol content) Alko announced that this was the first year when alcohol-free products surpassed ciders in overall sales. The number of alcohol-free products has quadrupled since 2011 in Alko's selection (Alko 2022). The wine producing technology for low-acohol and alcohol-free products has taken giant leaps in the past years, which has enabled the production of better quality wines. The rise of alcohol-free products has been acknowledged in Alko's trend analyses and it is highly likely that this trend will build momentum in the future instead ending up as a fad. The wine marketers and producers should acknowledge the consumers' need for healthier wines as wine consumers tend to adopt healthy lifestyles easily (Higgins & Lanos 2015.)

To complement the literature review I did qualitative research to deepen my knowledge about the subject. Two key players from the Finnish wine market field we're selected to be interviewed in a semi-structured thematic interview. The themes raised in the interviews were in line with the research about the future trends. It seems that ecological and ethical aspects maintain and strengthen their importance in future consumers' decision making.

The future cannot be foreseen but some predictions can be made about it. What are the most likely consumer trends that affect the future of the wine market in Finland? This question is of the essence of this thesis.

1.1 Benefits

This thesis was created to benefit companies in the wine trade industry in Finland. Companies that are heading towards the future should be concerned about trends as this might better their position in the future market. As trends are a vague term clarifying the most common definitions for the word and focusing on the creation and spreading of trends reveals insights and the fundamentals of trends. To be better prepared for the future it is important to have knowledge about how consumers are known to behave and how they behave in purchase situations. Even though, it is becoming increasingly challenging to segment consumers as groups there are fundamental psychological factors affecting consumer behaviour. Consumer behaviour is explained in general basis and more specifically based on the factors that play importance when selecting wines. This knowledge could help wine importers to choose the right kind of products.

Other industries might also benefit from the findings presented in the thesis. Trends are researched and followed closely by numerous industries; this thesis might clarify some issues about trends and help in creating more efficient trend analyses. Green consumer behaviour is increasing popularity also outside wine markets.

1.2 Delimitations

Wine types and categories are not presented in this thesis. This thesis does not explain the fundamentals of wine making, wine laws, or focus on wine characteristics or flavour profiles. Although, the qualitative interview provides some history about the flavour profile preferences of Finnish consumers. The wine market overview was outside the scope of this thesis. This includes further details about the producing and consuming countries, how wine markets work in general or legislation issues. Past wine trends are not researched in this thesis, some current trends are researched, if they are connected to the future trends. Online wine sales are also excluded from future trends, even though this will probably impact Finnish wine market substantially. Alko's position is not reviewed thoroughly, as the role of Alko might be different in the far future. These topics will be briefly discussed in the discussion section. The focus was on the trends that can be best justified by existing literature research and expert interviews.

2 Defining trends

When looking at the word trend in the dictionary, the word is described as the general direction of change: way of behaving, proceeding that is developing and becoming more common (MerriamWebster 2022). The term trend can be associated broadly to many things like fashion, economics, data analytics, digital technology and more. Trends are what is happening at a given time and are broadly connected to popularity. However, at the same time they are a consequence of previous events. The main reason that trends are used as a tool for future studies is that the trend tendencies might remain the same in the future (Hiltunen 2017, 57.)

The term trend is frequently used in media and by experts from various fields. The meaning of the word is often taken for granted and used for policy arguments based on the presumption of the word. We might hear decision makers using expressions like: "if current trends continue" or "long term trend indicates". It appears that these frequently used phrases seem to give technical precision that lends professional import into the discussion, but that precision remains ambiguous. It leaves aside the question of what is really meant by the word "trend", because the scientific meaning is seldom given. Often terms like current, emergent, or long term are cited to lend precision to the concept, thereby creating a misleading appearance of the scientific origin of their usage. Misleading, because it is not possible to have intelligibility in these statements without making the component terms themselves unambiguous: What is meant by a trend? How are the terms 'current' and 'newly emerged' interpreted in the long term? Is it possible to discuss and measure with clarity any quantity that is indeterminate? (Phillips 2010, 2.)

To understand the word trend and what it means it is necessary to know about the history of the word. In the twentieth century the word was used mainly among statisticians and economists. The original meaning of trend in old English was "to turn". In statistics, trend means the direction of a curve. It is often used when the direction of the curve is not that obvious. When there is a slight change in the curve, a statistician might talk about a positive or a negative trend, instead of referring to the curve going up or down (Vejlgaard 2008, 6.) Trends or the direction of change can be either ascending or descending or possibly in stasis throughout the review period (Hiltunen 2017, 59.) Statisticians rely on factual data to compare the curves based on recorded statistics. For a historian these statistics have significance. However, for a trend sociologist or someone from the world of fashion these are not trends at all. In the fashion industry trend is a prediction of something that is going to happen and be accepted by an average person. The fashion industry

started to use the word in the last third of the twentieth century. And it is mainly because of the fashion industry that the interest in trends became part of our everyday life (Vejlgaard 2008, 7.)

It is evident that trend means different things to different people. First magazines that used the word trend were fashion magazines. The word referred to new products and designs. This is still the way how many people perceive the word trend. We might see magazine headlines like: "New furniture trends". In this case, trend means product news. A person working in design can use the word to describe new car collections by the manufacturers. This refers to product development, as this is something that is going on in the car industry at the moment. Finally, a trend sociologist will talk about a trend moving from the trendsetters to the mainstream. In this case, trend refers to a process of change (Vejlgaard 2008, 8.) However, these three uses of the word are interconnected. You can say that a trend is a process of change that (sometimes) comes about because of product development that (sometimes) result in new products. How you define it is dependent on this portion of flow you are focusing on (Vejlgaard 2008, 8.)

Journalists focus on the first definition, product news since they write about news. For example, the Times Magazine has featured "trends" column, focusing on the latest in fashion, technology, travel and cocktails. This is how the majority of the consumers understand the usage of the word. The second definition referring to product development is being used by many industries, from fashion to technology. In this case the word refers to product development that is happening in the trend setting companies. They create something that is new and set inspiration to other companies that try to copy these products. The third definition points to a process of change that is initiated by trendsetters and moves into the mainstream; ultimately this change may even fall in popularity. This usage indicates that if something is a trend, it is in a very early process, so it focuses on the very first signs of change. (Vejlgaard 2008, 9.)

In the case of wine industry, the meaning of a trend is a mixture of the definitions mentioned earlier. For instance, wines from certain region may increase their sales in the short term because of a TV-show or a movie. This is the trend sociologist's way of using the word, as it is moving from a trendsetter into the mainstream. One of the latest trends in the industry has been natural wines that are produced in traditional ways without the use of pesticides or additives, using wild yeasts and left unclarified. This refers to the example from the car industry as product development that is happening at the moment.

People often tend to think that trends are mysterious and happening "out of the blue", although this is a common misconception, as they only might appear so. Since trends are a social process, it means they are created by humans (Vejlgaard 2008, 10). Trends are something that evolve slowly over time and build constantly instead of coming and going. This is what separates them from fads that are defined as a style, activity, or interest that is very popular for a short period of time (Cambridge dictionary 2022). Many trends can lead to a long-term change as their popularity builds over time. Trends have the potential to influence our culture more broadly, beyond an individual industry. One way of looking at it is that trends can help in solving problems. Over time they begin to gain power because they are not tied to a specific moment in time, but rather the progression of time.

The word trend can be described as the new way of doing things, an innovation in business models and something that spread from a small group into a larger one. This way of thinking is called the diffusion of innovation. It originated in Iowa in the 1930's where a group of scientists (Ruan & Gross 1943) began to explore how different ideas spread in the agricultural industry. They noticed that diffusion of innovation amongst a community is phased. When Joe Bohlen and George Beal researched the same subject, they summed up the mental process of the adopters in the following stages: **Consciousness**: When a person receives information about an innovation but lacks the specific details. **Interest**: A person gets interested in the innovation and wants to learn more about it. **Evaluation**: If the person thinks that the innovation could work, they will try it. At this phase the experiment is only small-scale. **Adoption**: A person adopts the innovation, is pleased with it and continues the use of it. Professor Everett Rogers Popularized the diffusion theory of innovation in 1962. The basic idea was to divide adopters into segments, based on how quickly they adopted the innovation (Hiltunen 2017, 27-29).

New innovations are initiated by innovators. Innovators are the ones who create products or modes of operation. Roughly speaking they present 2,5 percent of the adapters. Similarities between innovators are often the willingness to try new things and take risks, even if the innovation doesn't kick off as anticipated. Based on this theory the new innovators might not be the most respected people within the community but are in key position in bringing new innovations to the community. (Rogers, E. 2010.)

Henrik Veljgaard is a trend researcher who has addressed innovations and the spreading of trends. According to him the role of the innovators is quite minute when it comes to the acceptance of the trends in the society. When bringing a trend into a market the biggest weight is on the trend setters, who decide what trend they will adapt. Trend setters are often seen as unique individuals who have a lot of influence and who orient positively towards change and who have followers amongst the masses (Vejlgaard 2008, 9). This group of people is referred to as the early adopters who present about 13,5 percentage of the innovation adopters. These people are often respected people within their society and have built a vast network (Hiltunen 2016, 29.) Nowadays, there are social media celebrities who promote their innovations on platforms like Instagram, Facebook or TikTok. This has been noticed by companies from many industries and these "influencers" are the new norm of marketing products. However, it is noteworthy that TikTok, Facebook and Instagram strictly prohibit any type of alcohol advertising on its platform.

The next group of people in this theory is called the early majority. They are the ones who adopt trends slightly earlier than the majority. What connects these people is the decision-making process, which is a bit longer compared to the innovators and early adopters. They also have the need to see the trend being utilized before adopting it. Even though they are open to new things, it is important for them that the innovations are approved in the society. Nevertheless, they are a valuable link in the chain before the trend to spreads into society (Hiltunen 2016, 29.)

The last category is called the late majority or the late mainstream. A defining character of these people is their scepticism towards innovations. The late majority is inclined towards traditions and reluctant towards any kind of change. They do not adopt new innovations until they feel pressured to do so. Usually, they adopt innovations after everyone else has adopted them. One of the great motivators to do so seems to be peer pressure (Hiltunen 2016, 30).

According to Rogers (2010) the factors that influence adoption of certain innovations are the following: **Relative benefit** determines whether the innovation is better than its predecessor. Relating to economic factors or customer satisfaction in general. **Compatibility:** If the innovation is compatible to the user's existing values and practices, the adoption happens faster. **Complexity:** Is the innovation difficult to comprehend or use? **Experimentability** refers to the experimental nature of the innovation. Can it be tested before adopting? And finally, **perceptibility:** How do other people perceive the benefits of the innovation? If the relative benefit, compatibility, experimentality and perceptibility are experienced to be great and the complexity is perceived to be low, the innovation is usually adopted faster.

Trends have been researched substantially by the fashion industry. The theory of change indicates that certain groups of people are in key position in deciding whether trends start to spread to the masses. As fashion is a broad concept, in this research the word refers to styles, colours, and

customer trends. Three interesting theories about the spread of trends are called trickle-down, trickleacross and trickle up. These theories have been created during different time periods and are based on the idea on how fashion trends spread from the upper class of the society to lower class (trickle-down), from lower class to upper class (trickle-up), or within certain classes (trickle-across) from innovators and opinion leaders. As today's societies don't have such clear distinctions between classes, today's upper class can refer to movie stars and other celebrities. They are key people in promoting innovations in the 21st century (Eundeok, Fiore & Hyejeong, K 2014).

Spotting the origin of a trend can be tricky, as they boil down to social forces among which styles and tastes change (Envato 2019.) When these changes have been shared and accepted by a critical mass, they begin to take root firmly in the public psyche and may even return as a part of cyclical process.

2.1 How to predict trends?

A good baseline for future predictions is that understanding how the world changes in real time is more valuable than trying to guess what happens 20 years from now. The majority of the decisions we make in life happen in short term, even though we might describe them differently. When you decide to marry someone or change your career role, it all happens in short term per se. Long-term decisions start in the short term, so when you understand how the world is changing in real time, it is more valuable to your day-to-day career and life than trying to figure out what is going to happen in the far future (Bhargava 2019, 3).

When considering the amount of media we are exposed to on a daily basis it can be difficult to figure out how things are going to turn out in the future. Navigating through the information overload and finding cues and weak signals about future trends takes discipline and can be indicative at best (Bhargava, 2019, 10). The job of futurists is to anticipate the future, instead of foreseeing it. At its core is the visualisation of different images of the future, as well as considering their probabilities. Anticipation focuses on the question: what if? instead of when (Hiltunen 2016, 35).

So how can trends be predicted then? One way of trying to address the dilemma is to collect ideas of the current events and try to connect them to the future. Detecting trends this way is a combination of observations, curiosity, and insights of historical and current events. The downside of the approach is that it cannot be measured by data. However, the truth of scientific research, just like the

truth behind many equally complex areas of study, is that experiments aren't the only nor the most accurate way to gather data (Bhargava, R. 2019, 11). Trends are hardly ever a measurable phenomenon that can be fitted neatly on a spreadsheet. Spotting fractions of trends is possible, but they need to be pieced up to create a coherent image. It is important to keep an open mind and adopt ideas that might be contradictory to your personal views of the world. Going outside your usual sources of information and opening your mind to unconventional ways of thinking can help in making connections between the things you read. The premise for predicting trends consists of being able to be objective, having insight, having proof from multitude of sources and envisioning ways to apply the trends. When predicting trends, it is wise to consider them as describing something that people will do and believe as a result (Bhargava 2019, 14).

According to Hiltunen (2016, 215) when anticipating future trends one of the best tools is to create scenarios of the future. It is important that the scenarios are different from each other, for example so that some developments are exaggerated, and some are underestimated. It is useful to ponder how these scenarios would impact the operating environment of your business if the trend would become massive and significant, if the direction of development would remain the same, or if the trend would disappear without having a major impact on anything. This contemplation can possibly help to shape your organizational strategies so that product and service selection will meet the needs of consumers in the future.

Some important qualities that can be associated with trend anticipation are curiosity, being observant, being fickle, being thoughtful and being elegant. Curiosity is about asking why, immersing oneself into learning, improving one's knowledge by asking questions and investigating. Being observant is learning to notice even the smallest details in life and stories that others might fail to recognize as significant or fail to observe. Being fickle is the art of moving from one idea to another without becoming fixated or overanalysing each idea in the moment. Thoughtfulness is about developing a meaningful point of view, whilst considering alternative viewpoints without bias. Elegance is needed to piece the ideas together by describing disparate concepts and connecting them in a simple and understandable way (Bhargava 2019, 24-33).

When predicting trends another important distinction to be made is the subjectiveness of predictions between trend curators. As humans are individuals, the way we interpret and connect the signs of change vary from one curator to another. Also, the motive of the trend curator should be taken into consideration. If the motive is purely from a marketing related the outcome is different than what a futurist might deduct from the given signals. Futurists tend to contemplate the bigger picture, which in this case means the wider and longer-term changes in the environment. It is also

important to understand that the predictions are only indicative. What happened yesterday or today is not a guarantee of what will happen tomorrow. Therefore, one should stop and ask questions like: what could happen to this trend in the future? Are there weak signals (signs) that the course of this trend might change? (Hiltunen 2016, 10). However, there are inevitable changes that are on motion called megatrends. Reflecting on these trends it is a safe way to make predictions from both marketing and general futurism point of view.

2.2 Weak signals, complementing trend research

Weak signal refers to an indicator of an issue that is potentially emerging, that could have significance in the future. It is something that has happened but somehow seems strange, surprising, ridiculous, or scandalous to us (Hiltunen 2010, 365). Usually, they take us by surprise and challenge our current thinking. Weak signal can be divided into three parts: 1. The thing or the phenomena itself, 2. the signal – a news item, image service, object or event – that tell us about it, 3. the interpretation, meaning how the signal is received and how it is linked to the interpreters' own insight or worldview and how it is used (Hiltunen 2008, 247.) What makes the signal weak is the interpretation. The strangeness or surprisingness of the signal depends on the interpreter, and how it reflects to the perceiver's interpretive framework, their existing worldview and notion of the current situation (Dufva & Rowley 2022, 10.) Through weak signals *w*e can identify our own assumptions of the present and the future. The key is to allow yourself to interpret weak signals from other perspectives. Our own values and ideals affect the way we interpret these signals. This helps us to understand why something that is familiar to us might be surprising and strange for others (Dufva, & Rowley 2022, 10).

Weak signals are generally used to expand the view of alternate futures, mostly as a part of a trend analysis. Mostly weak signals are used in a sense of preparedness for the future, but they can also refer to highlighting and challenging the assumptions we have about the future. Approaching weak signals from this angle allows us to expand the selection of alternate futures and makes it possible to find underlying directions of the future that we had not thought of before (Dufva, & Rowley 2022, 9).

When talking about weak signals three approaches stand out. According to Dufva & Rowley (2022) the first is focusing on identifying trends that are clear in the present and pondering the consequences they have on the future. This approach is based on the assumption that the future

can be predicted by the trends in the present and focusing on the changes behind these trends gives us valuable insight. This approach mainly refers to preparing for the future.

If we want to approach the future predictions on the conceptual basis that there is no clear picture of the future, and it is something humans build together, this leaves room for discussion of the desired alternate futures and how we should construct them. This approach can be referred to as the planning of futures

The third and least used approach is focusing on challenging the current assumptions that we have about the future. The main goal is to expand the knowledge we have at hand and challenge the outcomes that are predicted to happen. With more identified futures it is possible to limit the surprising situations and become more prepared for these scenarios. When we have many alternate futures reviewed side by side, they may reveal desirable futures that had not previously been considered (Dufva & Rowley 2022).

We often tend to think that the future is just a continuation of present, in which things are roughly the same, just faster, bigger and more efficient (Dufva, & Rowley 2022, 8). Mostly the future is viewed through the changes brought by technology, where other things remaining the same. This is mainly because it is harder to anticipate the future of societal changes or changes in values, mindsets and actions. However, now the futurists emphasize the recognition of surprises and the discontinuation of the status quo. Futurists talk about postnormal times when surprises and conflicts rule and the concept of normal is increasingly useless (Sardar & Sweeney 2016, 1-13).

When the COVID-19 pandemic started in spring the 2020 it demonstrated concretely how the future might be very different from what we had thought. As often in the case of crises, this pandemic raised a question: how well do we know how to prepare for and identify different surprises? Taking a narrow, cautious or short-term view of the future, it is easy to ignore phenomenon like pandemics or refugee crises. Often the impacts of crises are unexpected and more far-reaching than one might think. The unpredictable changes interlinked with big and small changes are leading into unforeseen consequences. As uncertainty grows, the future can seem more blurred than before (Dufva & Rowley 2022, 3). Is it possible to widen our perspective and identify emerging and existing phenomena and their impact on the future?

The effects described by megatrends are relatively well known. But to be better prepared to think about and influence the future, we must not only to broaden our thinking about the future, but also

to make knowledge about the future more tangible and its impact more immediate at the level of people's everyday lifes (Sitra 2022) The future surprises us mostly because relating the future to today's actions and choices is difficult. It is more useful to reflect the predictions on the data available. Even though the impacts of major megatrends are already in motion they may still come as surprise for some of the population, whether it is ecological crises, power-related trends, or demographic development. However, the megatrends alone are not sufficient to provide us an image of the future, since being focused on megatrends alone leaves us blind for underlying surprises. Therefore, weak signals are used to complement trend analyses, not only not only because they bring unexpected scenarios to the mix, but they also challenge us to think differently and from multiple angles. Trends are often thought of in terms of continuities and pondering the "what next?" question, whereas weak signals focus on discontinuities and encouraging us to ask: "what if?" (Sitra 2022).

2.3 The inevitable Megatrends

The concept of megatrend was first introduced in 1982 by John Naisbitt. They are referred as major, long-term phenomena that change slowly, that are often in connection with each other and cannot be transformed in an instant (Naisbitt 1982). Megatrends are large directions of change that have vast impacts globally (Hiltunen 2016). They are inevitable changes happening in the world affecting environmental, economic, political, industrial, and everyday life of individuals around the globe. Their development is often believed to continue in the same direction (Dufva 2020). These changes do not come as surprise, but they are rather familiar things, changes that are already in motion and are highly likely to keep happening in the future. Examining megatrends takes into consideration the changes in trends in the present and different views of the future. Furthermore, it means assessing how the past and present actions are likely to impact the future we are heading towards to. Research of megatrends is an essential part of reflecting on different visions of the future. Besides examining a singular megatrend, it is essential to recognize the wider entirety the trends are connected to and how they reflect on the other trends (Dufva 2020).

When presenting megatrends, the natural starting point would be climate change, as many trends should be viewed in relation to it and specifically to the actions, we humans take to overcome this threat. Climate change means the shift in the conditions of the average weather around the world. The average temperatures have been rapidly increasing globally, mainly because of the fossil fuels humans burn and use as a source for energy, to power our homes, transportation, and factories

(BBC 2021). According to the literature and expert reviews climate change is the most influential megatrend affecting future wine market.

Climate change is potentially a threat to all forms of agriculture. It is especially true in the narrow climatic zones that are suitable for growing wine grapes since wine grapes are particularly prone to variations in climate and long-term climate change. The global warming over the last fifty years has appeared to have benefitted the quality of wine grown worldwide, but projections for the future warming on a global, continental and wine region scale may have both positive and negative impacts. On the bright side there might be new areas open for viticulture and increase those areas viability or it may have severe impacts on the ability to adequately grow grapes and to produce quality wines. However, it is likely that the climate change will have numerous potential impacts on the wine industry, like increasing the scarcity for water supplies, additional changes in grapevine phenological timing, affecting the balance composition and flavours of grapes and wine. Regionally the changes vary depending on the climate zone, but they may include changes in varieties grown, mandatory shifts in the regional wine styles and spatial changes in viable wine growing regions (Jones 2006, 1).

Because today's viticultural regions exist in narrow geographical zones it makes them particularly prone to any short or long-term climate changes compared to more broad acre crops. In general, the climate defines the overall wine styles that regions produce, while the variability in yearly climate affects vintage quality differences (Jones 2006, 2). Therefore, climatic changes, that influence both average and variable conditions have the potential to change wine styles. The observed temperature changes during the past century have affected agricultural production viability by impacting the growing season, winter hardening potential and frost occurrence. (Carter et al. 1991, 261-269; Menzel & Fabian, 1999, 397; Easterling et al. 2000, 417).

Climatic suitability is extremely important in wine viticulture. Some key climatic metrics that are followed by viticulturists are the degree-days (heat unit theory), which refers to grape growing commencing at a particular base temperature (Ibis Geography 1987), average temperature of the growing season and temperatures of warmest months. Average temperatures during the growing season usually define the climate-maturity potential of premium quality wine varieties that grow in cool, intermediate, warm and hot climates (Jones 2006, 1).

When comparing grapes, a great example would between Cabernet Sauvignon and Pinot Noir. Cabernet Sauvignon typically grows in regions spanning from intermediate and warm to hot climates with growing seasons that range roughly from 16,5–19,5 degree Celsius. Pinot Noir on the other hand is usually grown in cooler climates spanning from cool to lower intermediate climates where growing seasons that range roughly from 14–16 degree Celsius (Jones 2006, 1-2). Even with the limitations cool to hot climate suitability places on quality wine production, it is evident that the impacts of climate change are not likely to affect all varieties and regions, but rather they affect the climatic thresholds whereby continued warming might push regions outside of the possibility to produce quality wine with existing varieties (Jones 2006, 1-2.)

The other vital aspect of climate change in this context is the change in customer behaviour. The demand for ecologically produced products is likely to grow in the future. Previous studies suggest that consumers are increasingly concerned about the effects of conventional agricultural food and wine production practices on the wellbeing of the environment and on human health. It seems that the consumers today believe strongly that sustainable wine is equal to or better than conventionally produced wines and are prepared to pay higher prices for such wines (Forbes, Cohen, Cullen,Wratten & Fountain 2009.) However, it is noteworthy that in questionnaires the consumers tend to place greater emphasis on the ecological qualities of the products than in the actual shopping situation when they must pay a higher price for such products. Therefore, the market research assessments are subjective and do not always reflect real life (Hiltunen 2016.)

The population is ageing and becoming more and more diverse. In the future it is increasingly difficult to view Finns as a one group. The structure of population is changing due to longer life expectancies and lower birth rates. In fact, this is a broader phenomenon in the Western society – young people are becoming a minority. This raises questions as the younger people cannot be solely responsible for incorporating new approaches, sustainability, and technologies into the way society is operating. The functioning capacity of an individual may become a more important factor than one's age. It remains to be seen how the future societies will look like when a growing part of the population is over sixty-five and reaching the matured age of one hundred years is not unheard of (Dufva, M. 2021). In 2020 there were more 65-year-olds than 5-year-olds for the first time in human history. According to predictions the amount of 65-year-olds will double compared to 5-year-olds by the year 2050 (Jeffrey 2016)

As the statistics about alcohol consumption according to customer segment or age are scarce or non-existent, it remains speculative how the ageing of the population will affect the wine market in Finland. However, this dilemma could be approached from a marketing point of view and by focusing on target market principles. For example, some research indicates that baby boomers (born in 1946–1964) have the highest frequency of purchasing wine at price points from 15 to 20 euros, and the lowest sparkling wine consumption frequency (Carollo, Fong, Gabrieli, Mulatti & Esposito 2022, 416.), even though sparkling wine has been one of the fastest growing wine categories in the past years.

Technology has developed tremendously during the past century. The computing capacity of computers is constantly increasing, which enables quick technological development in the future (Hiltunen 2016, 52) As technology keeps developing it assimilates quickly into society and everyday life. More and more data is being accumulated and the significance of this data is becoming more important. Technology can provide new and more effective ways of producing energy and using resources (Dufva 2020.) The price of technology has decreased substantially. Devices that were once financially available for large companies only, are already being purchased by average consumers (Hiltunen, E. 2016, 52.)

Biotechnology could provide effective solutions to build vine resistance against external threats like diseases, pests and even climate change. Genome sequencing is a process in which DNA sequence of the genome is fully or partially determined (Wikipedia 2022). When applying genome sequencing into noble grape varieties it could assist in cloning grape varieties that are more resistant to future blights and better adapting to climate change (Dixon, Williams & Pretorius 2022.) Genome sequencing could help to solve challenges related to sluggish wine fermentation and possibly reshaping aroma profiles and alcohol content of wine according to consumer preferences (Dixon et al 2020). Similarly, the genome sequencing of three strains of the main wine spoilage yeast, Brettanomyces bruxellenis, revealed the gene responsible for the unpleasant "medicinal" offflavour in wine, as well as the genes involved in sulphite tolerance (Curtin, C.D.. 2012-77). These findings about the genomics of B. Bruxellenis have the potential to help wineries with cleaner diagnostics and ways of battling outbreaks of sulphure-resistant contaminants in wineries (Curtin 2012, 78).

Another promising technology development that could help the wineries to save money and time is the artificial aging process. Aging is an important phase of winemaking that improves the quality of wine. High-quality wines are traditionally placed in oak barrels for aging, some wines are produced by aging on lees, biological aging, temperature aging method and so on. These methods are both time-consuming and expensive, which affects the wineries' production capacity and economic benefits. Modern technology has the capacity to simulate oak aging, such as micro-oxygenation. Utilizing artificial aging technology could potentially shorten aging time, improve wine quality, and therefore reduce production cost. (Ma, Wang, Wang, Qinyu, & Qian 2022, 152-153). However,

there are factors like unclear reaction principles and unstable quality that restrict the commercialization of artificial aging technology (Ma et al 2022, 152-154). With further research and testing artificial aging could possibly benefit the wine industry in the future.

As the wine packaging has a significant environmental impact on the product, science might be able to come in aid with the development of new packaging materials. Nanoscience is a multidisciplinary field that gathers researchers from chemistry, biology, physics and engineering, creating interest across many industries (Sanguansri, & Augustin 2006.547-548) Nanotechnology focuses on the design, production, and application of structures through controlling their size and shape in nanoscale. Amongst the numerous applications of nanotechnology, nano-enabled strategies have stood up as a tool for smart and active food packaging systems. It is estimated that within the next decade approximately 20 per cent of food packages will be made using nanotechnology (Daneeshiya, Maleki, Amini, Behrouzian & Latifi 2020). Traditional food packaging systems are mainly designed to serve a purpose as a protection from physical impacts, but the smart food packaging systems can perform in more varied and complex roles, like improved permeability for important molecules (Mei & Wang 2020.) The need for lighter materials has become more apparent to create more environmentally responsible packaging. Nanotechnology could be helpful in tackling the issue.

2.4 Consumer behaviour in marketing

Consumer behaviour and marketing are closely linked. Generally marketing is a customer of consumer research, therefore studying consumer behaviour from a marketing point of view allows us to better understand the reasoning consumers have when they are purchasing certain products or services. In this case the evidence is gathered by combining methods of marketing research, psychology, and social sciences (East, Singh, Wright, & Vanhuele 2022, 4.) This approach is intended to provide an answer to questions like: Why and how people purchase and use goods and services? What kind of reaction do they have on prices, advertising, and store interior? What kind of mechanisms function to produce these responses? If the marketer can get answers to these types of questions, they are able to make better managerial decisions. (East et al 2022, 4-5). The approach taken to receive these findings culminates in a method called empirical generalization. These findings that have stood the test of repeated investigations (East et al 2022, 5).

Sometimes, marketers give more attention to the effect than the explanation for what is causing it. Identifying a specific group of people who might be heavy users of a product is valuable, but often the question why is not researched as rigorously. If the motive of consumers can be clarified it gives the marketers an opportunity to design better communications to capitalize on this and perhaps to predict other products these groups could be interested in. To do so the marketers need to accept new evidence whenever it becomes available. In some cases, this may include adjusting sensible practices because of new findings (East et al 2022, 5).

Traditionally consumer behaviour has been studied by creating models of the purchase decision process. Often such models were expressed by creating boxes and arrows representing all the connections and components behind the rational decision of a consumer. These models are often based on the idea that a consumer is supposedly absorbs product information into their memory and process it when a need emerges. After further evaluation and research on alternative products a purchase is made. After this the customer goes through post-purchase evaluation, being either satisfied or dissatisfied.

Nowadays, such models are not embraced with enthusiasm. Often the case is that they overstate the rationality of the consumer decision-making. Another problem is that they are hard to test in practice since it is difficult to find satisfactory measures for all the components (East et al 2022, 6). In some cases, consumers might discover all the alternatives, evaluate these and choose the product that seems best, but sometimes consumers choose first and justify their decision later – if they justify it at all. Therefore, rational decision models might suggest what people ought to do (normative), but they are not effective in describing what people actually do (descriptive).

Nowadays, textbooks give more attention to partial decision models, in which the rationality of the process is incomplete, while much of the repeated purchase occurs automatically as a habit. Usually, this sort of decision-making ranging from rational to automatic is referred to as the degree of involvement with the product. It is more likely that people are more involved and give more thought to their choices when they are buying something for the first time (East et al 2022, 6). To further illuminate the decision making, we can concentrate on the cognitive model of behaviour often referred to as the neoclassical approach. The cognitive model is focusing on the rationality behind the purchase. This type of decision assumes that consumers investigate and compare alternatives, before making a purchase. To capitalize on cognitive decision-making marketers might provide information that leads the consumer to reject alternatives.

Current belief is that consumers spend more time reflecting on the alternatives when they are making an important purchase for the first time. By doing so the primary intent is to avoid costs and secure benefits (East et al 2022, 7). However, this type of modelling has had some criticism, because for many purchases this type of decisioning doesn't occur frequently. The main findings based on the research (Beatty & Smith 1987, 83-95) indicate that people do not conduct much search before making a purchase. Even in the consumer durable market carefully thought decisions are quite rare, since most purchases are either buying a replacement for an existing product or making an additional purchase (East et al 2022, 7). Often the case is that the purchase is made first and justified later.

It is noteworthy that individual consumers don't often act on their own when making purchase decisions. Even when people think they are deciding on their own, their opinion is often swayed by groups and especially the word to mouth received previously from other people. Sometimes, people might base their decisions on the information they are exposed to by the mass media. Other factors that often effect the consumers' decisions are social pressure and fashion trends. Consumers are above all feeling creatures that often make decisions based on their feelings and non-rational needs, to get respect from their peers for example. Therefore, modern-day marketing focuses on invoking feelings and mental images, instead of appealing on customers' rational needs. In the wine world word to mouth and specialists' reviews play an important role in spreading of the trends.

Based on the latest research (Hiltunen 2020, 63-64) some of the most important factors affecting consumer behaviour (and decisions of purchase) are narrowing down the consumer as an individual, as a part of community, based on their operating environment and the prevailing market and commodities. As an individual the consumer is driven by personal and psychological factors. The relationship between an individual consumer and their community is viewed as greatly affecting the purchase decisions they make. People often place importance on the opinions and values of their inner circle.

Purchasing process is often initiated by external stimuli and the needs they raise. Consumers are imposed to stimuli and new needs by advertising, environment and from their communities. An individual consumer, community, markets, and the environment are interconnected by a network of different needs. All of these create pressure for change and demands for each other. Changes on the operating environment may create new needs for the markets. On top of this the consumers also have internal needs like hunger or getting respect (in general) (Hiltunen 2016, 23). Ultimately there are many factors that dictate the purchasing decisions of an individual consumer. It boils

down to personal preferences and group dynamics. Personal qualities like age, personality, life situation, gender, values, ideas etcetera all influence on the decisions they make.

2.5 How and why consumers choose wines?

Today consumers are facing an ever-expanding array of wines, all with characteristics designed to catch their attention, arouse their interest, and encourage to come back for more – from well-known brand names to attractive labelling. Choosing a wine has become more challenging for many consumers (Sutanonpaiboon, & Atkin 2012, 1). Yet purchase decisions are not usually made on a whim. Consumers assess wines based on obvious and less obvious attributes, depending on their general wine expertise. At the essence of an effective wine marketing strategy is understanding what consumers are looking for in wine and where a particular product is considered to be at the price-value fulcrum (Robertson, Caitlin & Botha 2018, 159).

Product knowledge is a very important factor in wine evaluation, yet it is often overlooked. This knowledge can be objective or subjective. Objective knowledge refers to what individuals actually know about wine in a practical sense, often associated with expertise and experience. Subjective refers to what people believe or think they know, often associated with hearsay, preconceived ideas, or bias. Even though₇ objective knowledge is considered more reliable, it is subjective knowledge that is increasingly influencing consumer behaviour in the wine industry. From a wine marketer's viewpoint objective and subjective knowledge are equally important. It boils down to the customer segment that is needs to be reached, as wineries tend to target average consumers differently from experts (Robertson et al 2018, 160-161). Although, according to studies the price of a wine seems to be the most dominant attribute influencing decision making, regardless of the level of expertise (Robertson et al 2018).

The intrinsic attributes of wine include colour and taste. The extrinsic attributes of wine include price, age (or vintage) brand or region of origin (Robertson et al 2018). These have different appeal to consumers' senses as extrinsic attributes are considered to have more complex meanings to consumers in contrast to intrinsic ones. However, these attributes cannot be separated, which makes the wine production and marketing inextricably linked. Extrinsic attributes are defined as something that is known or can be known before buying a bottle of wine and are disconnected from the actual characteristics of wine. The contemporary wine marketing literature is increasingly

focused on the wine's extrinsic attributes, leaving little room for research about product knowledge – both objective and subjective – influencing the consumer's attachments on extrinsic attributes (Robertson et al 2018).

Vigar-Ellis, Pitt and Caruna (2015, 679-685) developed "wine knowledge typology" in 2015 to provide a tangible guide to the different variations and degrees of wine knowledge amongst consumers. This typology divides wine consumers into four categories:

1. Neophyte is a consumer with low objective- and subjective knowledge. A consumer who doesn't know a lot about wine and also believes they don't. Dictionary defines neophytes as people who just started learning or doing something (Merriam-Webster.)

2. Snob is a consumer with low objective knowledge and high subjective knowledge. Consumers who overestimate their knowledge about wines.

3. Modest is a consumer with high objective knowledge and low subjective knowledge. A consumer who knows more about wine than they think.

4. Expert are consumers with high objective-and subjective knowledge. A consumer who believes they know a lot about wine and who actually do (Robertson et al 2018).

Even though, it may be oversimplifying to generalize wine consumers into four categories, literature about the subject supports some characteristics of different types of wine consumers. For example, the relative wine knowledge of an individual has a profound effect on the extent to which they are motivated to search for information about a particular wine. Also, many consumers tend to overestimate their knowledge about wines. Furthermore, experts place a great importance on the origin of wine, its official ranking and chateau name, while novice consumers often base their wine choices of price, age, and bottle design (Roberston, J. Ferreira, C & Botha, E. 2018 pp-162-163).

The interaction between price and quality is a key area of interest in the economic field and has been extensively researched (Roberston, J. Ferreira, C & Botha, E. 2018). When it comes to wine purchasing behaviour, the general unanimity is that price is strongly interrelated with the perceived quality. From a consumer's perspective the price of a wine bottle is not only about affordability but is also a signal of the brand value. Even though, consumers usually take several attributes into account when selecting wines, those with less brand knowledge tend to correlate price as a quality indicator. What makes wine brand such an effective marketing tool is that it evokes emotions and feelings in people, which can be exploited through an interesting story and the interaction of words and images. The essence of this story line is the region of origin, a characteristic that can make a brand stand out. Usually, the brand of a wine brand has more impressions among the more

knowledgeable consumers, while experts often consider other attributes in addition to the brand. Novices often rely on first impressions and are generally more leadable by a country or a region of origin, than the actual brand (Roberston, J. Ferreira, C & Botha, E. 2018).

When a blind tasting was conducted it revealed that price was not in correlation to consumer preferences. However, interestingly when provided with the denomination of origin the consumers were more willing to pay increased price for wines in all price points. Additionally, when wine production methods were mentioned, it affected the sensory profile of wine evaluation and increased consumers' liking expectations (Wiedman et al 2014; Vecchio et al 2019). Consumers also gave higher ratings for wines that were presented with additional information about the production process of the product, and when conventional wines were presented as organic (Wiedman et al 2014).

3 Ethicality in wine trade – more than a trend

Generally, ethics refers to a branch of philosophy with a core intent of seeking to understand and to determine how human actions can be estimated right or wrong. There are many theories dedicated on clarifying how ethical decisions are to be reached. Consequentialism for example, suggests that any action must be viewed in terms of the results of the action. We may approach businesses from an ethical viewpoint and judge them based on how they treat their employees or the environment, what kind of product they produce and how will it impact people, either financially or regarding their health. Virtue ethics assumes that there are certain character traits that can be deemed virtuous, and, in a specific role, make an organisation or person praiseworthy or otherwise (Richardson 2005, 440-441). For a business to appear ethical they should incorporate inherent morality in all their actions, rather than carrying out virtuous deeds to get temporary advantages. Transparency in actions and in written codes of practice need to be visible for all potential clients.

Nowadays, developing such codes of practice is a custom for many organizations. They have a primary intent to ensure that their members behave in an ethical manner. Emphasizing matters like honesty, mutual trust and disclosure of product risk can be the premise for codes of practice. In wine production, New Zealand and South Africa have developed bodies that regulate production methods (WOSA 2002). However, sometimes the case is that these ethical codes do not comply with the theory of virtue ethics, as they are not implemented by heart. Wiebe (2000) states that where regulation is enforced, organizations will seek ways of circumventing it. Laczniak and Murphy (1992, 47) appear to disagree, commenting that When punishment are enacted for violation of professional codes of conduct, unethical behaviour is less likely to occur. (Richardson 2005, 441.) Fear of consequences seems to be greater motivator for many companies, rather than the notion of virtue.

According to Laczniak and Murphy (1992, 47) ethical principles should be measured by factors like product safety, environmental friendliness, disposability and clarity of use on products put to sale. In this context a great example are? Nestle's baby-milk products in the Indian markets without usage instructions that are understood by potential clients. As the product itself and the methods of productions are admissible, the marketing methods may not be. All these factors are of great importance. Consumers have different viewpoints, and they need to be respected because this has an impact on the company's image.

When examining the themes found in papers, advertisements and the internet, there are multiple examples of the use of the word "ethical" associated with wine. Often it refers to stewardship of

land, production, and the condition of workers. Companies like Fairtrade have made ethicality the cornerstone of their buying policy and societal benefits that have accrued to third world producers (Richardson 2005, 445). The Finnish alcohol distributing monopoly Alko for example, demands transparency in all production chains and sends its own teams of researchers to designate areas, to investigate if the conditions of production are adequate. An alcohol wholesaler Raisin Social comments that in the recent years there has been growing concerns among consumers that the goods they buy should be produced in conditions that are safe and decent (Richardson 2005, 445.) By ensuring that these concerns have been fulfilled, the producers in various countries are using ethicality as a tool for marketing.

When talking about ethicality in an alcohol related business, some factors should be considered. The ethics of the land refers to ruling out the efforts to influence those below the legal drinking age and those whose consumption approaches or exceeds recommended alcohol guidelines (Richardson 2005, 445.) Countries like the UK has advertising controls that prohibits companies from making people look more attractive when drinking alcohol. In the USA trade restrictions laws prohibits trading of alcohol across state boundaries besides via legal state wholesalers.

Subjected to such restrictions, wine producers can still advertise to improve the market position of their products. For example, E & J Gallo winery, which is the largest exporter of Californian wines, has spent over 500 million dollars in advertising since 1977. A large portion of this advertising is allocated to target a small core of consumers and especially the ones reading the two main UK wine magazines, Wine Maker and Decanter. Advertising in these magazines tends to supplement regional articles by sponsoring them. (Richardson 2005, 446). This is mainly marketing for a converted audience (Jaeger 2000.) However, wine columns in newspapers are potentially a great way of attracting new customers.

Such wine-related activity can be considered as largely ethical, providing it comes within national production and follows advertising guidelines (Richardson 2005, 446.) However, it is possible to be dropped out from this classification. In the 1980's Austrian wine was widely shunned in export markets due to their use of unacceptable additives. This was viewed as lowering their standards by other countries. Sometimes political turmoil might influence countries' wine exportation. For example, Spain and South Africa that were once viewed as politically unacceptable, are now ethical producers, thanks to reforms (Mansson 2000).

In the future firms are more likely gain competitive advantages by following ethical marketing stances (Gauzante & Rachford 2000). As high ethical principles are incorporated in the production

it may be marketed by emphasizing the ethical aspects of the product. Whether this is a case of virtue ethics seems questionable, as some institutions might feel pressure from their ethically inclined customers, as others might genuinely try to influence social and environmental policy goals by purchasing (Ethcial consumer 1997). Despite their actual motives, recent cases indicate that producers are grasping the concept of ethical behaviour and viewing it as a significant marketing factor.

Organic viticulturists are a great example of using ethicality as a marketing tool. They are a small but influential part of the world's wine industry, known to emphasize environmental issues. The corner stone of this kind of marketing is to highlight the natural and healthy nature of the products. Instead of using chemical pesticides, these viticulturists use environmentally friendly pest control and healthy fertilizers, in their efforts to build soil fertility naturally. It is not just individual producers that capitalize on the organic angle as a competitive edge. Wine producing countries like New Zealand and South Africa have begun to realize that taking an ethical stance in production has the potential to improve the image of their industry leading to improved sales (Richardson 2005, 447).

South Africa has been widely known for having a poor image as a wine producing country as the working conditions for vineyard workers have been neglected. However, now they have taken correcting actions as the wine industry association for ethical trade was launched in 2002 with the support of several supermarket groups in UK. New Zealand has founded a program called Sustainable Winegrowing New Zealand. The growers are committed to providing the best practice model for environmental management and a system that ensures to address consumer concerns about environmental and grape production issues (Richardson 2005, 447). After all it might be about the appearance of behaving ethically and following codes of practice in using ethical virtues in their advertising, since the consumers have grown more conscious and want to deal with companies that are responsible.

Ensuring ethicality in the beverage supply chains can be demanding, as they are often complex entities consisting of a wide range of operators, including suppliers, producers, ingredient suppliers and bottling plants. When planning ethical and sustainable measures it is crucial to determine the origin of the products. Alko is collecting information about the products all the way back to the production facilities. To ensure ethicality in product selection they are using World Bank's Amfori Business Social Compliance Initiative listing to identify risk countries. High-risk countries involve a risk due to the conditions the ingredients are produced in. Information about the high-risk country's products is traced back to the farms. Risk countries refer to those in which beverage industries have had shortcomings on environmental and social issues. Social risks are addressed as

negligence of human rights like child labour, safety issues, health of seasonal workforce or excessive working hours. Alko demands that all its beverage suppliers complete and apply the principles of BSCI's code of conduct training (Alko 2022a).

Alko's latest review of the 2022 alcohol trends stated that one of the key trends is the growing demand for corporate responsibility. The companies involved in the alcohol trade have a prerequisite to incorporate social responsibility in their supply chains. The European Union is committed to preventing any human right violations in companies' value chains as a part of its duties of care. The individuals working in these supply chains need to have safe working conditions and the opportunity to sufficient livelihood. Providing versatile training for suppliers and producers is one way of ensuring the fulfilment of these issues (Alko 2022a). According to Anu Koskinen, the selection and procurement director of Alko, companies are increasingly required to take social responsibility in their supply chains, as transparency and openness are the lifeblood of trading (Alko 2022e).

3.1 Ecological wines are relevant in the future market

Eco-labels are a way of signalling consumers about the environmental attributes of a product. Their goal is to lay out clear and credible information about the product's reduced environmental impact, thereby eliciting increased demand for products perceived environmentally favourable (Delmas & Gergaud 2021, 1-2). The majority of eco-labels requires the endorsement of standardized sustainable practices, the certification of these practices by an independent organization, and the signalisation of this certification via a label that is placed on the product. The aspects usually taken into consideration can be the product's carbon footprint (packaging material & recyclability), the use of pesticides in cultivation, the use of additives or animal products in the production process and the appropriate treatment of workers in supply chains (Viinimaa). In theory, this leads to reduced environmental and social impacts of the product through consumer choice.

Today there are over 460 eco-label programs worldwide, which is a substantial increase from the few dozen that existed in the 1990's (Yokessa & Marette, 2019. 119-120) However, despite this growth the consumers have had uneven responses to such products. There are studies that have suggested that the abundance of environmental labels can lead to information overload, resulting in scepticism towards and confusion about eco-labels (Brécard, 2014; Lyon and Montgomery,

2015). There have also been cases of greenwashing, which refers to labels that have misleading information about the product's environmental benefits.

Additionally, one of the main concerns about eco-labels amidst consumers has been the trade-off between the quality of the product and the environmental impacts. In fact, some experiments indicate that eco-labels or even just the colour green can reduce the perception product efficiency in general (Pancer, 2017, 160) Consumers often tend to assume that reduced environmental impact of a product lead to lower quality products. This can be particularly problematic when it comes to consumers adopting eco-labels. This raises the question about the value of eco-label certification for both producers and consumers. Can the implementation of sustainable practices be combined with changes in production processes that improve product performance? Is it possible to achieve some of these benefits without certification? Previous research about the identification practices outside of certification remains limited because such policies do not exist outside the certification system. This why it is challenging to differentiate those that are implementing sustainable practices without certification from those that use the conventional practices (Delmas & Gergaud 2021, 2-3).

The value of eco-labels in the wine industry is a particularly interesting case to study mainly because of three reasons. Firstly, the industry has had recognized confusion concerning the value of eco-labels from both consumers, winemakers, and scientists. For instance, biodynamic agriculture, which is a form of organic farming, has been met with scepticism by some members of the scientific community (Castellini, 2017, 1-2). Furthermore, there are consumers who are unwilling to pay premium price for wines that are labelled organic. This can be partially explained by the negative overall perception of the taste of organic wine in the early stages of organic wine development, when production expertise was still inadequate, and the "grand crus" of organic wines (Delmas & Gergaud 2021, 1-5).

However, at the same time there is increased public attention to issues of health and environmental sustainability, contributing to a growing consumer demand for "natural" food and drinks. This trend has also influenced the wine market, resulting in the spread of "natural wine" Galati, Schifani, Crescimanno & Migliore 2019, 405-406.) There are studies suggesting that consumers who are aware of the environmental and social impacts of their choices in consumption are more likely to pay attention to the labels and the information they display to reduce negative environmental impacts via purchase (Galati et al 2020, 406). Research about consumers behaviour indicates that the growing demand for food and drinks produced with environmentally friendly methods are closely linked to increased consumer awareness of environmental issues and human health and the strengthening public perception about the green products being the solution to food safety and the depletion of natural resources (Hashem 2018; Maniatis 2016). The study of the nature of green consumer behaviour is a complex field. Individual values seem to be one driver affecting the green consumerism. Particularly the values of self-interest, altruism, universalism (protection for the welfare of people and nature) indicate to beliefs of human responsibility in health and natural environment, which affect attitudes towards the preservation of the environment and healthy lifestyles. It seems that psychological criteria is deeply affecting environmentally conscious consumer behaviour (Dangelico & Volatelli, 2017- 406.)

In the recent years there has been a rapid increase (in the wealthier countries) in products obtained through organic farming methods, particularly in wine production. The market share of organic wine is still quite low in the global wine market (Barber, Taylor & Remar 2016.) It is typical that consumer intentions and actual behaviour don't match. It seems that cognitive and affective factors together with normative cues play a crucial role in decision-making and possibly prompt spontaneous and unplanned purchasing behaviour, that results in consumers acting against their own beliefs (Taghikhah, F., Voinov, A., Shukla, N. & Filatova 2021).

Social media seem to play an important role in increasing consumers' awareness of environmental issues, therefore influencing their wine purchasing behaviour (Sogari, Pucci, Aquilani & Zanni 2017, 1911.) This is seen as particularly influential amongst the millennials but also amongst other age segments. Data collected through a survey shared in Germany, United Kingdom and United States, indicated that wine consumers are generally concerned about environmental issues, social responsibility of companies and sustainably or ethically produced products (Kelley at al 2019). It is typical for wine consumers to adopt healthy lifestyles and control their diets (Higgins & Lanos 2015.)

Biodiversity and healthy soil are essential for agriculture. They have a beneficial impact to harvesting productivity, protection of crops from pests and diseases, while enabling proper circulation of nutrients. According to a study by Ecogain AB (Sjölund, Vernerback, Sundqvist & Hägglund 2021) organic and biodynamic farming methods contribute to soil and terrestrial biodiversity more efficiently compared to traditional farming methods. The alcohol industry is dependent on natural ecosystems as they enable sufficient raw material production. The ecosystems need be healthy and biodiverse to function in the long term. Traditional, small-scale

agricultural methods have provided sufficient habitat for many organisms in the past, but as the farming lands have expanded and the production has intensified it has been leading to weakening and fragmented habitat of species, which pose substantial global threat to the soil and biodiversity (Sjölund, Vernerback, Sundqvist & Hägglund 2021, p. 4-28).

According to Alko their biggest climate impact in supply chains arise from the manufacturing of the products and their packages. Along with the Finnish government Alko is implementing the sustainable development goals of the United Nations, to reduce the environmental impacts of their operations and the overuse of natural resources. Using lighter, bio-based, easily recyclable packages and packages made from recycled materials is a concrete method of operating sustainably. To support the spread of environmentally and climate-responsible practices, Alko is constantly introducing more sustainably and environmentally certified products to their selection as a part of their Green Choice label (Alko 2022e).

The Green Choice label indicates the beverage producer's commitment to sustainable development and environmental work. Currently Alko uses seven labels to indicate the reduced environmental impact: natural wines, biodynamic, carbon neutral, sustainable development certification, organic, vegan and environmentally friendly packages (Alko 2022b.) The carbon footprint of wine packages varies significantly, depending on the material, size, and weight of the product. The production of traditional glass bottles (weighing 540 grams) has the highest carbon footprint of carbon emissions per litre (675 grams of greenhouse gases) as faucet packaging produces 70 grams of emissions per produced litre. In bottled wines the most environmentally friendly form of packaging are PET-plastic bottles, which cause only 36 percent of the emissions glass bottles cause. Lighter glass bottles (weighing less than 420 grams) create 22 percent less emissions than traditional glass bottles. The rule that applies here is that the lighter and more recyclable the package is the smaller its climate impacts are (Alko 2022b).

By the year 2030 Alko's mission is to reduce the environmental impacts of beverage packages by 50 percent compared to 2020 and to increase the share of Green Choice products to 70 percent of their selection (Alko 2022d.) Taken this into account wine importers should favour green choice products in their future portfolios.

3.2 Health trends affecting wine consumption

Consumers show increasing concern about the impact their lifestyle choices have on their own health and on the wellbeing of the planet. Therefore, the role of health in consumer decision-making is growing. However, wine is a unique product that is distinct from other food products, mainly because wine consumption is closely tied to traditions, social and cultural aspects unlike other beverages or food (Deroover, Siegrist, Brain, McIntyre & Bucher 560.) Other important aspects influencing wine consumption are pairing wine with food, symbolic value, and the popularity of wine as a gift. Additionally, the perceived healthiness of wine is particularly controversial. Even though there have been many studies researching wine and the effects of alcohol on human health, it is still a topic surrounded by confusion and contradictory information (Deroover et al 2021, 561). There is no doubt about the risks of excessive alcohol consumption and the range of negative health and social outcomes that come with it (World Health Organization, 2018.)

However, wine is a bit different from other alcoholic beverages because of the presence of grapederived phenolic compounds (Boban, Stockley, Teissedre, Restani, Fradera & Stein-Hammer 2016, 2938). Therefore, it has been suggested that moderate consumption of wine especially paired with food could possibly have positive health benefits like decreased risk for neurodegenerative diseases and colon cancer, metabolic benefits, and cardio-protective effects (Boban et al 2016, 2938). However, although many studies suggest that light to moderate wine consumption could have health benefits, the findings remain inconclusive and no recommendations can be made on a specific amount of healthy dosage (Minzer, Estruch & Casas 2020, 5045.) It is mainly about the specific health outcomes investigated that determine whether the effect of wine on health is positive or negative. Some research suggests that alcohol simply does not have any health benefits regardless of consumption volume. Alcohol consumption is a risk at all levels, but with moderate to light usage of alcohol, also the risks are minimal (Mielonen 2016).

There is a growing demand for healthier wines due to the presence of natural compounds. Pappalardo (2019) detected that consumers had growing interest in consuming resveratrolenriched wine as they perceived it as a source for beneficial and healthy properties. This study also suggested that extrinsic, intrinsic and the socio-demographic factors of consumers (gender, age) also further dictated their willingness to consume wine that was naturally enriched with resveratrol. It seemed that from a consumer perspective there is a significant difference between natural enrichment and technological enrichment. From a wine marketing viewpoint, it is essential to understand how the consumers relate to wine and health. This will help in establishing appropriate nutrition and health education about the consumption of wine and communication of the risks associated with it. From the wine producer's perspective, it is crucial to recognize different health aspects of wine products and how the potential benefits, risks and information about new products and technologies can be communicated. Knowing how consumers value and perceive the health aspects of wine could help in promoting innovations that meet the consumers' need for high quality, healthy and sustainable products (Deroover, et al 2021, 560.)

A published review about wine consumer behaviour by Lockshin & Corsi (2012, 2-23) discussed the distinction between widely accepted knowledge like the role of price, origin of wine, grape varieties and brand in wine choice and wine consumer segmentation versus the key areas that play a role in the future research. They concluded that consumer responses to wine and health issues is one of the areas with the most research needs. Since 2012 there have been various technological advances, the beverage market has changed and new studies have been released investigating how specific attributes of wine products affect consumer behaviour and perception (Bucher, Deroover & Stockley 2019).

The pursuit of healthiness has become more apparent as the stressfulness of modern-day work life has increased. In Europe work-related stress holds the second place on the list of work-related problems. The problems caused by stress are also driving people to disability pension. To cope with the demands of life and work it has become almost mandatory to be interested in one's own wellbeing, both physically and mentally. Partially this is because education and information have enlightened the consumers. Due to this fact the dietary habits of Finnish people have improved, smoking has decreased, and time spent on leisure time exercise activities has grown (Hiltunen 2016, 139-140.) Overall, the Finns lead substantially healthier lives than some 20 years ago (Hiltunen 2016, 139.) The consumption of alcohol has been decreasing in Finland since 2007. However, Finland still has the second highest alcohol consumption rate per capita in the Nordic countries (World Anderson, Moller & Galea 2012, 21) and obesity has also increased in a longer period.

In the beverage industry the competition is becoming more acute as the consumers are better educated and becoming increasingly fickle. A wider awareness of health and wellbeing issues is pressuring the industry to produce healthier and more sustainable products. In fact, moderation in drinking is one of the rising consumer trends in the alcohol industry (Siddle 2021). This is particularly visible amongst the younger consumers. The hobby opportunities for young people have increased and the peer pressure that encourages to get intoxicated has decreased (Rämö 2009.)

3.3 The rise of low-alcohol and alcohol-free products

The market share of low alcohol and alcohol-free wines has been increasing lately. The increased worldwide production of alcohol-free wines reflects the global trend of healthier lifestyles and grown awareness about the benefits of drinking wine (Braynik, Silva, Baszczynski & Lehnert 2012, 493.) The group of alcoholic beverages referred to as NoLo (no-alcohol or low-alcohol) produtcs have emerged due to public demand as a result of growing awareness.

Nowadays, the market has a broad range of terminology that refers to NoLo. The most common terms range from "no", "free", "zero", "low", "light" to "reduced". The definitions of the terms are varying due to differences in regulations on a country level. Most used are "low-alcoholic beverages" (LAB) and "non-alcoholic beverages" (NAB) (Okaru & Lachenmeier 2022). European Union regulations dictate that beverages with an alcoholic strength by volume greater than 1,2 percentage are called alcoholic beverages, but there are no implicit EU regulations below the range of 1,2 volume (EU Regulation No. 1169/2011.) For most EU countries, the limit for non-alcoholic beverage points. However, there is no clear justification for this particular limit.

The producers have refined their alcohol removal techniques so that alcohol can be removed without compromising the taste of wine. As the alcohol is removed it easily affects other parts of the beverage as well. However, with the help of modern technology, the parts can be accurately isolated, and they can be returned to the final product without alcohol (Alko 2022c).

Alcohol-free wine is traditionally produced by removing ethanol from wine after a complete grape fermentation via various heat altering methods such as spinning cone or vacuum distillation (Sun, Dang, Xiaobin 2020, 262). Low-alcohol wines are usually produced by controlling the ripeness of grapes and the fermentation of wine. Sometimes the grapes are collected early, when they haven't accumulated much of the sugar residue for fermentation (Alko 2022c). Based on reported research it seems that the removal of ethanol does not decrease the health benefits of red wine (Lecour,

Blackhurst & Marais 2006, 997). Membrane-based technology like the reverse osmosis enables the production of high-quality alcohol-free wines that meet the quality requirements of wineries (Sun et al 2020, 272).

The consumers' grown interest towards alcohol-free products is clearly visible in the statistics. Alko states that the sales of alcohol-free products have quadrupled since 2012 and grown 17 percentage points from 2020 to 2021. Alcohol free products are not only a substitute for sodas, but also a drink to pair foods with. One rising trend among consumers has been the adaptation of sober curios mindset. People are increasingly questioning their alcohol consumption and the role of alcohol in different social occasions. To meet with this demand in the summer of 2022 Alko established a kiosk on wheels that only sells alcohol free products. The background is Alko's desire to develop a responsible drinking culture and respond to the changing drinking habits of Finns. Last year, Alko sold more non-alcoholic drinks than cider.

Even though, NoLo alcohol products seem to provide solutions to alcohol-related health problems on a societal level, there are still ethical issues which require clarification like: deceptive marketing and advertising, underage drinking and the misconception of health effects that require appropriate regulation. The purpose of this regulation should be to ensure that the NoLo market develops and promotes public health instead of harming it. Regulation of these products might become increasingly difficult as distinction between alcohol replacements and soft drinks is becoming more blurred. In addition to the harmful effects of alcohol, the negative impacts of sugar consumption should be taken into consideration when developing holistic health policies (Okaru & Lachenmeier 2022).

4 Research methodology

Research methodology refers to the path the researcher chooses to conduct their research. It shows how the researcher formulates their problem and objective and presents their results from the data obtained throughout the study (Abu-Taieh, El Moutasim & Al Hadid 2020, 27).

Research method is a term used for the techniques, strategies, or processes utilized in the collection of data, or to provide evidence for analysis to discover new information or create deeper understanding of the topic. The main types of research methods for data collection are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method research (University of Newcastle).

When drafting the project plan it became clear that qualitative interview would be the most practical approach for the data collection. The aim of the qualitative research was to confirm and deepen the understanding of the topic. This chapter will further illuminate the qualitative research method in general and why it was specifically chosen for the thesis.

4.1 Qualitative research

Qualitative research can mean any form of data collection that produces narrative or non-numerical information. The goal is to gain insight on the participants' thoughts without having bias or making any judgments. This form of research focuses on the meanings and experiences of individuals or groups to analyse why and how people construct associations with other people, with things and with their environment. The goal of qualitative research is to use ethnographic (description of people and its culture) or ethnomethodology (rules the individuals follow in their everyday life) approaches to connect social theory to the essence of lived and everyday world (Bowling & Ebrahim 2005, 215).

Qualitative interview refers to a structured or unstructured methods of interviewing in which the researcher has a particular topic for the respondents, with open-ended questions that may not be in the same order to each respondent. The method is also known as in-depth interview that has a primary goal to hear what the respondents think is important about the topic and to describe it in their own words. Open-ended questions refer to questions the researcher poses but does not have an answer option for. These questions are more demanding for the participants compared to close ended questions because the participants need to come up with their own words, phrases, or

sentences to respond (Pressbooks). Open-ended questions often include questions like how, what, why, where, when and who.

Qualitative interview is particularly effective when trying to gather detailed information that help to understand social processes. Furthermore, qualitative research method can be effective when studying a topic that leaves room for subjectiveness. With qualitative research the aim is to find recurring themes in the answers.

Predicting future trends in the wine market requires certain base knowledge about the subject at hand. Therefore, qualitative research was predicted to provide more valuable data. The experts interviewed were chosen because of their extensive knowledge about the wine market. It was intentional that the participants represent Alko and an individual wine importer. My hypothesis was that the answers to my questions would bring some opposing views yet have similarities between them and therefore support the literature research. The sole purpose of the interview was not only to support the literature study, but also complement the study by bringing new visions of the future. The qualitative interviews were conducted via Microsoft Teams and their lengths were 31 minutes and 42 minutes.

4.2 Research design

The role of research design is to provide suitable framework for a study. An important decision in research design process is to choose the research approach as it determines how the relevant information will be obtained. It also shows how the research outcome at the end will be obtained and ensures that it is in line with the objective of the study (Abu-Taieh et al 2020, 27-28).

The research process started with specifying the research problem and conducting literature research. As the topic is broad and focuses on trend prediction, the emphasis of this thesis is on the literature research. This approach ensured that the theory is based on scientific literature, as trend prediction can be subjective and provide different outcomes from different experts, based on their background and general outlook on the industry.

The questions were formulated so that they were in line with the topics of the literature research. Main questions were divided into topics: consumer trends, megatrends, weak signals and wine trends. Each main question was followed by two sub-questions and in total of nine questions. The focus was on formulating questions that were not leading the interviewees to a certain direction. The questions were reflected on and chosen because of their additional value to the research.

4.3 Data collection

In-depth structured interview was chosen as the method of data collection. This is a semistructured method of interviewing that allows both the interviewer and the interviewee to explore additional points and change the direction of the interview if necessary. In-depth interviews provide an opportunity to capture substantial, descriptive data about the thinking and behaviour of people, and hence unfold complex processes (B2B International).

Because the responses are seen as subjective accounts rather than objective answers to the questions, were not required to follow the exact same sequence or wording.

In this case the research needs were to complement the literature review by expert statements. The focus was in identifying re-occurrent themes in the answers. To ensure alternate views the experts were chosen from Alko's procurement and from sales of an individual wine importing company Viinitie. The intention was to capture similarities and differences between the expert statements.

4.4 Data analysis methods

How the data is analysed depends on the purpose of the study. Positivistic analysis usually focuses on the frequency of certain types of expressions. Phenomenological analysis tries to elicit meaning from what is said or, even, left unsaid. The intention of critical dialectical analysis is to find a connection between specific features and broader topics, how present is related to the past and to identify the criticism of the prevailing ideology within the material (Quality research international 2022).

As the nature of trend research is to connect past events to current events and current events to future events, the critical dialectical analysis was seen as appropriate data analysis method. Trends are often connected to each other, so finding out how specific features connect with broader phenomena was also in line with the purpose of the thesis. The line of questioning was

designed to raise conversation about the past, present and the future, so that connections could be made, and create safe assumptions about the future

5 Data and results

The data analysis methods intention was to find re-occurrent themes in the expert's answers. This topic begins with the answers that confirmed the literature research and supported the theory of ethicality being the most impactful driver for consumer behaviour in the future. The answers that support the literature research findings are divided into three subtopics according to themes in the qualitative interview questions. Theme one was consumer trends, theme two was megatrends and weak signals, and theme three was wine trends. All themes had one main question, followed by two sub-questions. In total the qualitative interview had nine questions.

Because the qualitative research questions were designed to deepen the knowledge about the subject of wine trends, some of the findings were outside the scope of the thesis. These findings are presented in the chapter 5.4 subtopic: "findings that were outside the scope of the thesis".

And finally, the last subtopic of the data and results topic reflects on the interview and ponders the similarities and differences between expert statements. Chapter 5.5 is called "reflection on the interview".

5.1 Theme one; consumer trends

The first three questions were based on a consumer trends theme. The main question was: "which consumer trends will build popularity in the future?". Sub-questions were:" can you name any arising consumer trends?" and "what has changed in consumer behaviour in the past years?". The results indicated following:

Both participants believed, that in the future sustainability and responsibility will maintain and increase their significance as drivers for consumer behaviour. Alko's representative said that you can define sustainability in many ways, mainly including the ways humans try to adapt to climate change but it is like an umbrella term including many other trends. The consumers are increasingly interested in where the wine comes from. Natural and organic wines are already popular but in the future people will look for green label wines from Alko. This will be trending among different age groups, not only among the millennials and younger generations. Green consumer behaviour is

also spreading to smaller cities, at the moment the statistics show that bigger cities like Helsinki, Turku and Tampere are in the driver's seat with this trend.

Alko's representative stated that the consumers will be paying more attention on the packaging materials in the future. When people grasp that lighter material packages produce substantially less emissions, tetras, box wines, cans and plastic bottles become more acceptable by an average consumer. These greener packages might even become a way of getting respect from friends and peers in social gatherings. This is anticipated to gain momentum, as people are focusing more closely on the symbols of the wine labels, that indicate lower carbon footprint or compensation of emissions. The traditional glass bottles weighing 750 grams are often perceived as a sign of quality, when in fact a glass bottle weighing 330 grams is equally good in preserving or enhancing the wine quality.

The way of looking at trends as something that can solve problems is without a doubt a correct notion in the wine market in Finland. As people have started to look for sustainably farmed and organic products as the answer for the depletion of natural resources, the growing need for green label wines has built momentum not only as a trend, but as an outlook on life. The climate change has also impacted greatly in the attitude shift amongst consumers. As this is a global threat that isn't going to be solved any time soon, it is highly likely that the need for sustainably produced wines is going to grow in the future. Another vital aspect in sustainable farming is the viticultural side of wine production. The cornerstone for functioning viticulture is a healthy soil and a biodiverse ecosystem. Expanding farming lands and intensified production is weaking and fragmenting the species vital to the ecosystems. This is something organic farming provides an answer to. As mentioned, there should be encouragement for traditional farmers working outside the organic label certification system but applying organic farming methods.

As the consumers are increasingly enlightened about health issues as well, it is no surprise that low-alcohol and non-alcoholic products are changing from a niche to a solid segment. The drinking habits of Finns have been changing in the past few decades and especially amongst the younger generations. Moderate drinking and sober curiosity are manifestations of this statistical trend. Wines with lower alcohol and calories is already a rising trend, but it is expected to gain more popularity in the future as the drinking culture supports this kind of behaviour. The products have also evolved greatly in the past few years as the technology and production methods have improved tremendously. At the moment this is more evident in the non-alcoholic beer segment as the sheer number of the products has increased significantly in the past years. The building popularity of low-alcoholic and non-alcoholic products can be clearly seen in the sale statistics and the trajectory is still pointing upwards Alko's representative commented. How long these trends will affect the market remains inconclusive, but when considering the recent scientific findings that encourage people to drink moderately, it is hard to imagine that the Finnish drinking culture would shift back to the way it was.

The expert statements about trends that will maintain or build popularity in the future, underlined the literature study findings, about the importance of ethically produced and NoLo products in the future wine market. The main reason is not the characteristics of these products, but the increased awareness about the importance of ethicality and healthier ways of living. Even though, there were also answers outside the scope of this thesis which are presented in the chapter 5.4: "findings outside the scope of the thesis" topic.

5.2 Theme two; megatrends and weak signals

The second theme was megatrends and weak signals. The main question was: "what megatrend is likely to have the most impact on wine market in the future?". Sub-questions were: "how likely it is for megatrends to shift the power relations of wine producing countries?" and: "are there any weak signals that could lead to surprising trends?" The experts take on this theme was the following:

Both experts noted that climate change is the most impactful megatrend in the wine market. According to Viinitie's representative it has substantial impact on the supply side of the business. From a wine maker's perspective, it raises concerns, as the vineyards' capacity to produce the grape varieties they are known for is in jeopardy. For example, if the case is that the wine produced is shifting towards high alcohol volume jammier wines or if the cultivation changes so that the grapes must be picked up earlier, it will also impact the flavour profile of the wines and their balance. Is there enough irrigation for cultivation areas and is irrigation economically possible? Will the consumers accept the irrigation? Most of the times they don't accept irrigation. In general, it is because irrigation is not considered to be sustainable in agriculture and it can be a threat to the preservation of water resources.

Many producers have started to prepare for these problems. The grapes that have normally flourished in the southern parts of the world have begun to adapt to the northern parts of the world. For example, Bordeaux has accepted new grape varieties to be cultivated, some of them are

hybrid breeds said the Viinitie's representative. When looking at the last year or the year 2020, Spain surpassed France for the first time as the second biggest wine producing country in the world. Alko's representative stated that it is not about changing consumer trends, but mainly because of the extreme weather conditions that are happening more often because of climate change. When reflecting it to smaller trends it is more likely that the shifts could happen.

Alko's representative said that when travelling to the wine producing regions you can see that the wine makers are using amorphas, concrete eggs, stainless steel or oak eggs. They have started to pick parts of the trends that are suitable for their own production, even when not being organic or natural wine makers. Nowadays, one beneficial trend that many wine producers use is limiting the amount of sulphur dioxide added to wine. Many farmers still want to operate outside the certification system so they could save the yield with chemicals, should something disastrous happen. Alko's representative added that rare grape varieties and rising wine countries have been trending, and countries like Georgia, Slovenia, Croatia, and England have emerged and increased their market share.

Closely linked with ecological issues is the strengthening role of ethicality, both in organizational and individual consumerism level. Transparency in actions is vital not only for wine trade, but other industries as well. Making ethicality one of the cornerstones of organizational strategies should be high on the agenda for companies in the wine trade. The wine certifications for ethically produced wines helps the consumers to make an impact through purchasing. Social or environmental shortcomings are no longer tolerated in the wine trade. This is something that has had pressure from governmental and individual level. Using ethicality as a competitive edge in marketing, regardless of the actual motives, is something that benefits the whole industry. This topic was also side-lined in the conversation with the Alko's representative.

Viinitie's representative said that the shift of power relations can be seen especially in wine producing areas. It is also dependent on the EU's granted planting rights, that are set to prevent overproduction of wines. For example, the German Pinot Noir grapes are now ripening more thanks to climate change. As for Alsace, the region is becoming so hot that the wines are already starting to reach high alcohol levels. So, it is hard to justify why consumers would have to pay more for these wines, which are not necessarily in balance anymore. It is a question of how the rising production costs are in correlation with the retail prices of wines and with global wine market prices.

England for example is a rising wine producing country partially because of the climate change, since they have succeeded in introducing their sparkling wines alongside with champagnes thanks to good marketing and high level of producing. Alko's representative noted that: ten years ago, it would have been hard to imagine that Alko would have 19 sparkling wines from England in their selection

These findings confirmed the theoretical part that climate change is the single most influential megatrends impacting wine market now and in the future. Climate change may also shift the power relations of producing countries to some extent and countries like England might even benefit from climate change. Ethicality in wine trade was also mentioned as a trend that will drive consumer behaviour in the future. Weak signals were not presented as such, but some surprising trends were outside the scope of the thesis and they are presented in the chapter 5.4: "findings outside the scope of the thesis" topic.

5.3 Theme three; wine trends

The last theme of the interviews was more specifically about wine trends. The main question was: "what kind of criteria will consumers have when choosing wine in the future?". Sub-questions were: "how significant wine trends are in proportion to overall sales?" and "how do wine producers attract new customers in the future?". This is how the experts responded to these questions.

According to the Viintie's representative consumers often choose certain brands which they favour and that is not likely to change. It is fundamental criteria of consuming in general. The factors affecting brand preferences are likely to include responsibility and the perceived message of the product: is this producer reliable as a wine maker? It is important that the products underline the values that are essential to an individual consumer. It is not enough for the wine to be technically the best, it must also appeal to specific reference groups. The brand needs to have a mission that differentiates them from others. It is likely that green labels influence consumer decision making in the future. As mentioned, it will only grow as a phenomenon, and this is also related to the increased demand for box wines, tetras and organic wines in general Alko's representative commented.

Viinitie's representative said that the consumers are increasingly daring and willing to experiment. This can partially be due to the economic prosperity we have had in the past years, before the downturn. The craft beer boom has changed the consumers mindset a bit, so that it is acceptable to like multiple styles of beer and this shift is also impacting the consumption of wine. Nowadays, people tend to have less prejudice, and not only towards wine categories but in other aspects of life as well.

Wine trends are extremely important from a marketing point of view said the Viinitie's representative. To maintain or build market share it is important to keep up with current trends: what is popular in different categories and is there a need for new brands? Wine marketers often convey their own trend research focusing on the current wine market. For example, if it seems that oaked Chardonnay is making a comeback, it means that marketers should increase the share of the producers that provide this sort of wines. In general wine business from the sales perspective consists of small streams so it is important to keep up with the zeitgeist. Trends might not be visible in sales statistics when looking at the total volume of sales Alko's representative noted.

Alko is also closely monitoring trends and constantly making their own trend reports. The majority of sales come from the lower price point big brand wines, and this has stayed about the same for decades. The volumes are huge. Usually, trends happen so fast that they don't materialize in the overall sales for longer periods of time. But when going to higher price points trends possibly have a bigger impact said Alko's representative.

Alko's representative stated that word of mouth seems to be an important driver impacting consumer decisions. Opinions of fellow drinkers have become an impacting factor in wine consumption with applications like wine searcher and Vivino. The wine critics still have power, and their ratings are used for marketing, but not as much as they used to, as the counterforce of regular wine drinkers' opinions build popularity.

The last theme on the qualitative interview also confirmed the theoretical frameworks findings. Consumers are anticipated to be place even greater importance to their values and that they match with the products they purchase, hence ethicality will increase its importance as criteria for wine choosing. Word of mouth will remain its importance in the spreading of wine trends. What new innovations wine marketers have for attracting new customers in the future will be addressed in the next subtopic.

5.4 Findings outside the scope of the thesis

The qualitative interview questions were formulated not only to confirm the literature research findings, but to complement the thesis. Therefore, some questions were anticipated to bring alternate data to the research. These findings are addressed in this subtopic.

On the first theme the purpose was to identify what has changed in the customer behaviour in the past years and the products that might increase their popularity in the future. The answers outside the scope of the thesis regarded product groups, flavour profiles, and origin preferences.

On contrast to green label products Viinitie's representative noted that there is also demand for flashy products. Instead of creating better packages some producers are focusing to increase brand's recognizability, by introducing wines with flashier labels and unusual bottle designs. The idea is that this will catch the interest of consumers and the products could stand out from the competition. COVID pandemic increased the popularity of fine wines. There are two counterforces at play that polarize the wine market: the need for sustainable products and the rising tendency of spending more on wine. Wine trends seem to impact differently on higher price points.

When asked what has changed in the consumer behaviour in the past years, both experts agreed that when looking at the Finnish market there was a clear change back to the old-world wines. Chilean wines dominated the sales for a decade, but Europe strikes back. The classical wine regions have gained popularity during the last decade. Portugal has surpassed Chile in the wine sales in Finland. The expert from Viinitie commented that this might partially be explained because consumers have discovered that you can find equal or better price to quality ratio from Europe. Viinitie's representative stated that when Portuguese wines surpassed Chilean wines, the flavour profile actually changed a lot. The formerly most sold Chilean reds like Gato Negro Cabernet are quite fruity, but also vegetal, as for the Portuguese reds like Duas Uvas are softer and jammier.

Popular flavour profiles are going through a shift. According to Viinitie's representative it is a common misbelief that younger generations are looking for wines that are sweeter and easy to drink, when in fact they are often willing to try more challenging flavour profiles like oaked Chardonnay, which is making a comeback, alongside with lighter red wines like Pinot Noir and Gamay. Alko's representative mentioned that the shift in popular flavour profiles is common in the Finnish wine market. Trends in flavour profiles are often shifting from one side to another. In the 1980's people couldn't have enough of oaked Chardonnay and after that there was a trend called

ABC anything but Chardonnay – which resulted from people growing tired of the overly oaked fullon buttery taste. In 1990's the demand for oakless Chardonnay grew, as people wanted crispier wines, mainly because of the Australian Chardonnays. In the white wines the shift has gone from sweeter wines to dryer ones and nowadays many people are seeking sugarless white wine. Another great example is the Riesling grape variety, which was not so popular in the 1970's due to intentionally added sugar by the German producers. Riesling was perceived through low-quality wines that were produced at the time. It took some decades for Riesling to build the market share it has today, which is huge concurred the Alko's representative.

Alko's expert commented that prosecco has been substantially rising. In the start of the millennium Alko only had 5 or 6 proseccos in their selection, but now they have almost 100 different ones. Italy has surpassed Spanish Cavas in popularity because of this increased selection. Champagne sales have more than quadrupled from the beginning of the millennium. Both experts agreed that rose wines must be mentioned as a rising trend. Rose wine has become a party drink. Rose prosecco has been a huge success story, since the products were launched few years ago.

As for why, it is a combination of marketing and word of mouth. The trends come much faster to Finland nowadays. It used to take 6 months to get products listed in Alko, but nowadays it can only take 2 weeks. Some of them rise and some of them don't, that's why there is a wide selection at hands today said the Alko's representative.

On the second theme there we're answers outside the scope of the thesis, regarding the surprising trends that might take place in the future.

Both interviewees agreed that hybrid wine based- and wine-like drinks could become more popular amongst younger generations. Viinitie's representative stated that the United States is producing even functional alcohol products, like cannabis or herb infused hybrid wine products. In EU wine producing is more rigid but in the United States the regulation is more lax and there is a higher willingness to try new things. In packaging, new materials or designs like wine cans will emerge that are yet to break through. Wine-like mixtures and fresh wines that are only partially fermented could possibly become more popular in the future.

According to Alko's representative younger generations might also become increasingly interested in QR-code scanning of products if the codes would bring some additional value to the product, like new innovative stories that could enhance the brand image. It is to be noted that some of the new trends might be technology related.

On the last theme the answers outside the scope we're regarding the new innovations wine marketers might have when attracting customers in the future and consumer trends.

Alko's representative commented that old ways of telling long stories of many generations of male producers making wine in the rolling hills and the vineyards will not work in the future. Stories need to be told short in a TikTok way, with a maximum length of 2 minutes and an appealing storyline. When trying to convert new generations into wine drinkers the stories need to be customized to digital environment. As modern-day people are tied to their phones and have so much of moving images and stimuli in their everyday lives, the wine producers need to adapt their marketing to this.

On the other hand, Viinitie's representative noted that in the future a wine producer might attract new consumers with limited editions, because rarity and peculiarity can be one incentive to buy. The collection culture is building popularity as a consumer trend. New consumers can also be attracted by wine tourism and producing new types of wines instead of your usual Cabernet Sauvignon. There might be new lines of products with different flavour profiles. Nowadays, trends are escalating way faster than before thanks to social media. This has encouraged producers to launch new lines of products to test the markets.

5.5 Reflection on the interview

When considering that the experts represented different sides of the wine market in general, the answers had surprisingly many similarities in the big picture, regarding the impacts of the climate change, the rising importance of ecological and ethical matters in consumers decision-making and the ever-shifting flavour profile preferences of Finnish consumers. When listing rising consumer trends both participants mentioned hybrid wine-like drinks that could possibly build popularity and rose wines as a rising category. It also seemed both experts had similar visions on how wine trends might impact differently in different price points. The shift in power relations also had united visions, and what was especially mentioned was the Europe's comeback, as Portuguese wines surpassed Chileans in the overall sales in Finland.

The interviewees had different visions about trends and their importance. As mentioned, the revenue of wine importers consists of small streams so staying current and preparing for the upcoming trends is crucial, as this is a highly competitive field of business. Alko is a huge

organization that wants to provide trending products for their customers, but the urgency is a bit different in general, as they have the monopoly position. However, it does not mean they don't face competition – actually they do, more than before, thanks to the rise of online sales for example.

It also seemed that Alko is more focused on the big picture as wine importers, naturally, are more focused on specific segments of products that might trend, like rare and collectable wines for example. Even though, both organizations follow trends closely, because the advantage is obvious. Keeping up with the zeitgeist is becoming increasingly difficult, because there are more trends in motions at the same time. Updating the portfolio to meet with consumer demands is a never-ending task and conducting trend analysis' is a way to maintain and increase competitive edge.

6 Key findings

The topic of this thesis – ethicality as a trend in the future wine market – is a bit overwhelming and there could have been alternate ways to try to address the issue. What I found crucial was to properly delimitate the subject areas, so that the focus would be on long term trends and issues that steer the consumer behaviour. In fact, these findings could be applied to other industries as well. Corporate responsibility has been a popular conversation topic for quite some time now. Regardless of the industry people have a strong motivation to deal with companies that incorporate responsibility and sustainability in their agenda. The qualitative research indicates that the foundations of the literature research are built solidly.

When conducting future trend research, the results are connected to the scholars' own background and even motives. As the futurist Elina Hiltunen (2017) stated, a marketing professional may interpret the same signals very differently than a futurist. Trend predictions can be difficult, and the scholar often needs to operate in uncertain waters. There are unpredictable scenarios that can change even the best predictions in an instant. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic was an unexpected event that has had massive global impacts on numerous industries, especially the hospitality industry. Therefore, weak signals are crucially linked to trend prediction analyses. And in the case of the COVID pandemic even weak signals could not prepare the humankind for the massive changes on a societal level.

There were vast amounts of scientific literature supporting the theory of ethicality being the most important driver for consumer behaviour in the future. In this context ethicality included eco-label products, health trends affecting the wine industry and the rise of low-alcohol and no-alcohol products. The findings of the literature review were also supported by the qualitative research findings. Because trend prediction is indicative this approach seems to be the safe choice when creating scenarios of the future wine market. Although, it has to be noted that there might be surprising trends that will thrive, even though they are not related to ethicality.

Trend as a term is often elusive and used to bring apparent scientific certainty, even though they are rarely based on any scientific research. Nowadays, the spreading of trends is much faster than in the past. This is mainly because of the digital era we live in, where information travels in an instant and trends can gain global momentum in a blink of an eye. The younger generations have a low concentration span, so to reach them the messages need to be short and on-point. It is also

increasingly difficult to predict which phenomenon is going to be a fad and which has the longevity to end up as a trend.

Nevertheless, when basing future trend predictions to megatrends like the climate change it can offer likely end results because these trends will remain for the indefinite future. When considering the ways in which humankind can battle the climate change, it should be highlighted that the evolving technology can offer smart solutions so that we could produce cleaner energy, while reducing the overuse of natural resources. Technology will also provide answers to problems the wine industry is facing. For example, genome sequencing and nanotechnology can prove to be valuable branches of research, which allow wine producers to produce quality wines in the far future, while keeping the carbon emissions as low as possible.

Wine knowledge typology is much-needed research that brings some clarity to wine consumer behaviour. It is natural that consumers have very different subjective and objective wine knowledge that steer their purchasing decisions. Extrinsic and intrinsic values are closely linked in wine marketing, and both have an important role. When looking at the sales and seeing the lower price point wines dominating for decades, one could assume that majority of the wine consumers are neophytes. This is probably true, but to truly test this theory it should be taken into crossexamination based on the rest of the segments and compare the sales inside those segments. The problem is that this data does not exist. Overall, this is a promising, yet incomplete theory, that could be important for wine marketers in the future.

In the case of the wine industry, it seems that fads often rocket sales for a short period of time. When looking at the overall sales of Alko the most sold wines have been the ones in lower price points for quite some time now. This indicates that the vast majority of wine consumers are in fact neophytes. Consumer trends might favour some flavour types for a period of time. They often change from one direction to another. In the past, sweeter white wines were popular and after that the dryer ones emerged, and at the moment there is a strong interest for completely dry (sugarless) white wines. In general, it seems that most of the trends in the Finnish wine market don't have the longevity to impact the overall sales on a noticeable scale. This raises two questions. First the distinction between trends and fads: are most of the wine trends actually fads? And how much weight should one place on wine trends when trying to generate revenue in the wine market? From a wine marketer's perspective, the answer is simple: a lot. Trends can be substantial revenue streams for individual wine importers that are riding the wave of current trends.

The actual trends like green label wines and NoLo products have the longevity to be called wine trends, but when scaling their proportions to overall sales of wines, at the moment they seem more like niche segments. However, the trajectory of their sales is firmly pointing upwards, so it is safe to say that these segments will be amongst the rising ones in the future. Behind their popularity are not the actual characteristics (intrinsic values) of wines, but mainly what they stand for. As said, people are increasingly interested in their own wellbeing and the wellbeing of our planet. This is also why wine marketers should favour these products since it can positively impact the company's public image. The other side of it is Alko's mission to substantially raise the green label products in their selection.

My personal predictions about the future trends are that people will increasingly want to influence through their consuming. A great example is the craft beer world. When Russia attacked the sovereign nation of Ukraine, the popularity of the remaining Ukrainian craft breweries products grew massively. Consumers wanted to support the innocent entrepreneurs who were victims of the heinous act. Hopefully this kind of drastic measures won't be happening in the future but supporting through consuming will be trending. Afterall, this is what green consumer behaviour is at its essence.

The wines we buy must resonate with our individual values and make us feel like we belong in our reference group. The wine marketers will probably find new ways to appeal to our inner need to belong to these groups. Segmentation will become more challenging, but at the same time the wine market will keep expanding and new sort of products will emerge, as fads mostly.

As segmentation becomes more challenging and there are expanding number of segments, niche markets could become even more lucrative in terms of revenue. For this the wine marketers need to conduct quality market analyses, trend analyses and target the upcoming segments right when they start emerging, to fill their needs. It is not surprising that some new wine estates in the industry are founded by marketing specialists that don't necessarily have prior experience from the wine industry.

6.1 Discussion

Trend as a term is not as generic as one might think. In fact, there can be a wide divergence in the definitions of a trend. Therefore, when conducting academic research, it is important to start with defining the term. In the world of wines trends are often a mixture of definitions mentioned in the first chapter. Very often it is the trend sociologist's definition that applies in the creation and spread of trends, as they spread from trend setters to mainstream. Even though, some theories of creation

and spread of trends are old they are still relevant in the modern-day world. Segmentation in the spread of trends may seem like a stretch but it is often relevant regardless of the era. People are curious by nature and social beings at the essence. Therefore, trends fascinate many of us. We also crave for respect from our peers and our social circles. We might often use trends subconsciously to fill those needs. In the wine market fads are also extremely important in the short run. As mentioned, expert reviews or trend setters' influence can have a substantial impact on the sales of an individual product for a short period of time.

Segmenting consumers based on their general wine knowledge is an interesting angle taken to examine consumer behaviour. According to this theory (wine knowledge typology) the majority of the consumers are considered as neophytes that have low subjective and objective knowledge about wines. Interestingly, when provided with the right background information about a particular wine even neophytes are willing the purchase wines from higher price points. This underlines the importance of storytelling in wine marketing. This applies to other products as well, as storytelling is increasingly important in marketing. In the segment of snobs (high subjective and low objective knowledge) it is interesting how the illusional wine knowledge leads them to purchase wines from higher price points. This underlines the importance of hearsay and preconceived ideas steering their consumer behaviour. Word of mouth seem to have an important role in wine consumer behaviour. Overall, people seem to be afraid to purchase wines above their usual budget, unless they can be convinced that the particular product is worth the investment. The more information and the specifics (extrinsic values mostly) they have the better change there is that they will spend more.

The study of green consumer behaviour is a complex field where means don't always meet actions. As organic is often associated with improved health benefits it is one of the reasons people have begun to pay more attention to these products. However, organic wine is also often associated with decreased quality or performance of a given product. The rise of green products has been steadily rising in the past years. In the wine market their market share is still relatively low at the moment. Experts are not always inclined to favour organic wines and some of this may be explained by their bad original reputation. Consumers with green attitudes might also act in contrast to their own interest with spontaneous purchase decisions. Surveys about green products don't always provide factual data, as people might overestimate their willingness to pay more for these products. However, with the role of social media favouring green consumer behaviour and megatrends influencing mindsets globally the eco-friendly products are still anticipated to raise their importance in the future.

To have a better market position now and in the future wine importers should follow trends closely and detect any weak signals that could lead to changes. Creating different scenarios of the future can help in shaping organizational strategies that are better equipped to face the test of time. Brainstorming sessions once or twice a month can be time-consuming and costly in the short term, but valuable in the long run. Even though the role of Alko is unclear in the far future, wine importers should be aware of their missions concerning the product selection and general goals.

The future of the wine market in Finland might look very different than now. Lately, there has been a lot of speculation about the role of Alko. The National Coalition Party is questioning Alko's position as a monopoly. According to NCP, currently only 30 percent of the alcohol consumed in Finland has been purchased from Alko. This challenges one of the foundational missions of Alko – to prevent the harmful effects of alcohol on a societal level. Recent polls indicated that 59 percent of people we're in favour of selling wines in grocery stores (PTY 2022). When the same question was made about strong alcoholic beverages (spirits?) only 29 percent we're in favour. Alko has informed that in the case of wines being released for competition and into grocery stores, Alko would no longer have the capacity to maintain its position in the market, as wines constitute a large portion of its sales. This would result in all alcohol products being released into retail stores according to Alko.

The rise of online shopping is weakening Alko's role in the market. Online alcohol shopping is a sort of a grey area in the Finnish constitution. As Finland is a member of the European Union and the whole union is built on free movement of goods, it cannot be banned in Finland. During the pandemic online alcohol shopping has built its popularity and there is no indication that this would not continue in the future like any other sort of online shopping. Even though, after the restrictions have been lifted there has been a slight decrease in the popularity of online alcohol shopping.

In October 2022 the Finnish government allocated extra resources for Finnish customs to launch a campaign with a goal to seize any shipments with unpaid taxes. According to the Finnish government Finland is losing tens of millions yearly, because of the online alcohol shopping and alcohol brought overseas. It is a questionable notion at least, as the matter is far from simple. This should be examined more closely for a longer period of time to produce statistical trend analysis.

6.2 Recommendations

For wine marketers it would be advisable to keep trend research high on their agenda. This is already the case, but in the future as there will be new types of wine products and new segments, the trends are becoming increasingly important.

Following craft beer market closely to observe the consumer attitudes is advisable. The craft beer world has gone through a revolution during the past decade, and some of the trends might also affect wine market. The innovation of the craft beer makers is admirable as it seems there is constantly new types of products being launched, with various flavour profiles. Following the trending flavour profiles could give an understanding of current trend, for example new breed of hops called New Zealand hops (Nelson Sauvin, Motueka, Riwaka etc) bring similar characteristics to the craft brews that Sauvignon Blanc grape bring to wine (citrus, tropical fruit, gooseberry, herbal and blackcurrant leaf). The craft beer world could be included in the future trend analysis' at least on superficial level.

It should be kept in mind that Alko is substantially increasing their number of green label products in the future. This is something that is more of a requirement to operate functionally in the Finnish wine market. At least a large share of the portfolio's products should be green label products in the future.

Responsibility is used as a marketing tool. Focusing on a company's public image and appearance is crucial, especially in the digital era we live in. Favouring ethically produced wines should be on the agenda of importing companies.

The no-and low-alcohol products are on the rise. The quality of these products is constantly improving. Keeping an eye out for the upcoming products in this segment is advisable

6.3 Suggestion for future research

Trends research in general is one focus area that should have emphasis on wine market research. The articles and research I found seem to touch the topic on superficial level, but no long period statistics or cross-examination between trends and their spread and how they impact on sales we're found. Mostly the trend research had a narrow scope and seemed to focus on consumer attitudes about different types of wine attributes, or segment of wines (organic, natural, health products).

The research about fads in the wine market was not existing. This underlines the need for trend research in general, as trends and fads can easily be viewed as the same thing. Although it is demanding to make a distinction on which portion of the sales is because of the trend or fad phenomena of a product's popularity. Therefore, long-term statistics should be considered, to examine how the sales are impacted before and after the product starts to create momentum as a trend or fad.

Consumer segmentation in the Finnish wine market is one major area of research needs. There are no statistics available of the Finnish wine sales statistics based on segments. Alko does not collect that sort of data of the purchases, and even if they could, the data would be so massive it might require big data analysing properties. Based on the overall sales of Alko it is clear that majority of the consumers are neophytes, but it is the other wine consumer segments that get less focus. Especially since trends tend to impact different wine categories and price points differently. With proper consumer segmentation it would be possible to create better marketing plans for wine importing companies.

Wine makers that implement sustainable viticulture methods but work outside the certification system should be researched more. There should be some encouragement for this type of behaviour and possibly to reconsider new certification systems.

Online wine sales should be researched now and in the future. During the pandemic times the popularity has boomed and then dived a bit. Long-term research is needed to get a better understanding of how much of overall alcohol sales will take place in virtual environment.

The NoLo products and hybrid wines need more long-term research. Especially the marketing of these products is interesting, how will they scale on wine marketing obliged restrictions. Also conducting wide scope consumer surveys could reveal more about the prospected popularity for these categories.

6.4 Reflection and learning

Writing a thesis was the biggest academic task I have encountered. For me the best approach was to take my time with it. I started in the beginning of the year 2022 and finished over 11 months later. Before I started writing I read a couple of books regarding the subject. This helped me to organize my thoughts and to come up with a proper plan. I approached the task like a puzzle, writing chapters on individual word files. Constructing my thesis this way spared me from thinking about the sheer amount of work required to complete a thesis.

As I moved along, I started to realize just how extensive the topic is. You could find endless amounts of material revolving around this topic. For me one of the hardest parts was to select the right material to extract information from. Reading books, e-books and academic articles was overwhelming at first, but I trusted my plan and started to find the right type of material. The more knowledge I obtained the clearer it was I wanted to focus on ecological, ethical and health issues, because these seemed like the most re-occurring themes in the literature. I have to say, that my background and world view affected to the path I chose, which demonstrated that the motives of the scholar influence the trend predictions they make. Yet, remaining objective while researching had the utmost importance for me. It was crucial to have properly designed delimitations. I was assisted by my thesis supervisor Jouko, especially in limiting the subject areas.

It took some time before I could vision how table of content would look like. I had already started the literature research before I could piece it together. When I was happy with the design, I had a meeting with Jouko and presented it to him. We discussed the table of content and what to focus on and what to still exclude. This gave me further clarity about the design and the focus areas. After that I continued my puzzle piecing. Making each topic and subtopic one by one, while trying to keep the text consistent.

There we're times when the thesis wasn't high on my agenda, and I allowed myself to take some time out of it. This was good for two reasons: firstly, when returning to the task I noticed that I had consciously and subconsciously solved some problems that I seemed to be stuck with at times and secondly, I didn't have to force myself to write so often. I easily get sloppy when I need to push without motivation or energy.

Towards the end my motivation grew, as I was quite pleased with my literature research. The next big problem I encountered was the qualitative research part. Luckily, I had taken Thesis-1 and Research and Innovation Methods courses. I had some knowledge about the theory of conducting

qualitative research. Reading more about it helped me clarify what I should focus on when formulating the questions and how to conduct the interview. When formulating the questions, I focused on three themes from the literature research. The expert answers gave me some confidence about the literature research in general, but as explained before trend prediction is usually subjective, therefore the focus was on the literature research. Some of the answers we're outside my scope, but this was anticipated, and the answers complemented the work nicely.

When I had conducted the interviews, I contacted Haaga-Helia library to get further guidance. I booked one hour session with Anna Veijalainen. This proved to be extremely helpful for me, as she clarified how I should construct the qualitative research section and what is important when writing the data and results part. I also got tips on how to write an introduction that has all the required elements. This meeting gave me valuable information on how to construct the last pieces to the puzzle.

Overall, I learned a lot during this process. I became better at time management, which will be an advantage in the work-life. I learned patience as it took a lot of work before I was happy with the thesis. At time I was frustrated, but I learned that this too was a part of the process. Reading through a lot of material and choosing the most relevant sources was hard but improved my concentration and ability to plan ahead and partly see the puzzle before it was finished.

References

Abu-Taieh, E., El Moutasim, A. & Al Hadid, I.H. 2020. Cyberspace. IntechOpen. London. Alko. Alkon trendikatsaus kokoaa vuoden 2022 poreilevat trendit. URL: https://www.alko.fi/juomaruoka/trendit/trendikatsaus-2022. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Alko. 2022a. Eetisyys edellä- ihmisoikeudet työoikeudet ja hyvät työolosuhteet Alkon hankintaketjuissa. URL: https://www.alko.fi/vastuullisesti/tuotteiden-vastuullisuus/eettisyys-edella. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Alko, 2022b. Juoman pakkausmateriaalilla on merkittävä ympäristävaikutus. URL: https://www.alko.fi/vastuullisesti/tuotteiden-vastuullisuus/juoman-pakkausmateriaalillaonmerkittava-ilmastovaikutus. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Alko. 2022c. Miten viinistä saadaan matala-alkoholista tai alkoholitonta. URL: https://www.alko.fi/juoma-ruoka/juomatietous/alkoholittomat-juomat/alkoholittoman-viinin-jaoluenvalmistus. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Alko, 2022d. Vihreä valinta- merkintä kertoo juoman ympäristöystävällisyydestä. URL: https://www.alko.fi/vastuullisesti/tuotteiden-vastuullisuus/vihrea-valinta-merkinta-kertoojuomanymparistoystavallisyydesta. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Alko, 2022e. Ympäristävastuu on isoja linjoja sekä arjen ekotekoja. URL: https://www.alko.fi/vastuullisesti/yritysvastuu-alkossa/ymparistovastuu-on-isoja-linjoja-seka-

arjenekotekoja. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Anderson, P., Moller, L., & Galea, G. 2012. Alcohol in the European Union- Consumption, harm and policy approaches. World health organization. WHO regional office for Europe, p. 21.

Barber, N.A., Taylor, D.C. & Remar, D. 2016. Desirability bias and perceived effectiveness influence on willingness to pay for pro-environmental wine products. International journal of wine business research, 28, 3.

BBC. 2021. What is climate change? A really simple guide. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/science-environment-24021772. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Beatty, S.E. & Smith, S.M. 1987. External search effort: an investigation across several product categories. Journal of consumer research. vol. 14. p. 83-95.

Bhargava, R. 2019. Non obvious- how to predict trends and win the future. Ideapress publishing. 9th edition. Washington DC.

Boban, M., Stockely, C., Teissedre, P., Restani, P., Fradera, U., & Stein-Hammer, C. 2016. Drinking pattern of wine and effects on human health. Why should we drink moderately and with meals.

Food & function, 7, 7, p. 2937-2942.

Bucher, T., Deroover, K., & Stockely, C. 2019. Prodcution and marketing of low-alcohol wine. Advances in grape and wine biotechnology. In tech open.

Braynik, T., Silva, D.P., Baszczynski, M., & Lehnert, R. 2012. A review of methods of low alcohol and alcohol-free beer production. Journal of food engineering, 108, 4, p. 493.

Brecard, D. 2014. Consumer confusion over profusion of eco-labels: lessons from a double differentiation model. Resource of energy economics, 37, p. 64-84.

Bowling, A. & Ebrahim, S. 2005. Handbook of health research methods- Investigation, measurement and analysis. Open university press. Glasgow, p. 215.

Cambridge Dictionary. Meaning of fad in English. URL: https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/fad?q=fads. Accessed:

Carollo, A., Fong, S., Gabrieli, G., Mulatti, C. & Esposito, G. To wine or not to wine? A scientific approach to 65+. Wine preference and selection studies. British food journal. 70, 007, p. 416-417.

Carter, T.R. Parry, M.L & Porter, J. 1991. Climatic change and future agroclimatic potential in Europe. Int. J Climatol, p- 251-269.

Castellini, A., Mauracher, C., & Troiano, S. 2017. An overview of the biodynamic wine sector. International journal of wine research, 9, 1, p. 1-11.

Curtin, C.D. 2012. De-novo assembly and analysis of the triploid genome of the wine spoilage yeast Dekkera bruxellinins. Plos one, p- 77-78.

Daneshniya, M., Maleki, M., Amini, F., Behrouzian, M., & Latifi, Z. 2020. Positive and negative aspects of nanocomposities utilization in food packaging. International Congress of science. Engineering and technology. 1st edition.

Dangelico, R.M., Vocalelli, D. 2017. Green marketing: an analysis of definitions, strategy steps, and tools through a systematic review of literature. Journal of cleaner products, 165, p. 1263-1279.

Delmas, M., & Gergaud, O. 2021. Sustainable practices and product quality: Is there value in ecolabel certification the case of wine. Ecological economics, 183. p. 1-3.

Deroover, K., Siegrist, M., Brain, K., McIntyre, J., & Bucher, T. 2021. A scoping review on consumer behaviour related to wine and health. Trends in food science & technology, 112, p. 559-580.

Dixon, T., Williams, T.C, & Pretorius, I. 2022. Bioinformational trends in grape and wine biotechnology. Trends in biotechnology. Cell press. Vol. 40. p- 125-133.

Dufva, M. 2020. Megatrends 2020. Sitra. URL:

https://www.sitra.fi/en/topics/megatrends/#megatrends-2020. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Dufva, M. 2020. What are megatrends. Sitra. URL: https://www.sitra.fi/en/articles/what-are-megatrends/. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Dufva, M. & Rowley, C. 2022. Weak signals 2022. Sitra studies 203. Sitra. Helsinki. URL:

https://www.sitra.fi/en/publications/weak-signals-2022/. Acessed: 21.11.2022.

East, R., Singh, J., Wright, M. & Vanhuele, M. 2022. Consumer behaviour applications in marketing. 4th edition. Sage Publishing. Los Angeles.

Eastering, D.R. Evans, J.L. Groisman, P & Karl, T.R. 2000. Observed variability and trends in extreme climate. Meteor, p- 417.

Envato blog. What makes a trend. URL: https://www.envato.com/blog/what-is-a-trend/. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

EU Regulation No. 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25th October 2011 on the provision of food information to consumers, amending regulations (EC) No 1924/2006 and EC No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council, and repealing Comission Directive 87/250/EEC, Council Directive 90/496/EEC, Commission Directive 1999/10/EC, Directive 2000/13/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, Commission Directives 2002/67/EC and 2008/5/EC and Commission Regulation (EC) No 608/2004. Off. J. Eur. Union 2011, L304, 18–62

Ethical consumer. 1997. The rise and rise of ethical consumerism. URL: www. ethicalconsumer.org/philosophy/riserise.htm. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Forbes, S. Cohen, D.A. Cullen, R. Wratten, S.D. & Fountain, J. 2009. Consumer attitudes regarding environmentally sustainable wine: an exploratory study of the New Zealand marketplace. Cleaner production. Faculty of commerce, Lincoln University, p- 1195-1199.

Galati, A., Schifani, G., Crescimanno., & Migliore, G. 2019. "Natural wine" consumers and interest in label information: An analysis of willingness to pay in a new Italian wine segment. Journal of cleaner production, 227, p. 405-413.

Gauzante, C., & Ranchod, A. 2001. Ethical marketing for competitive advantage on the internet. URL: www.vancouver.wsu.edu/amsrev/forum/gauzente10-01.html. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Hashem, S., Migliore, G., Schifani, G., Schimmenti, E., & Padel, S. 2018. Motives for buying local organic food through English box schemes. Britain food, 120, 7, p. 1600-1614.

Higgins, L.M. & Llanos, E. 2015. A healthy indulgence? Wine consumers and health benefits of wine. Wine economics and policy, 4, 1. p. 3-11.

Hiltunen, E. 2017. Mitä tulevaisuuden asiakas haluaa? Docendo Oy. Jyväskylä.

Hiltunen, E. 2008. The future sign and its three dimensions. Helsinki. p- 247-260.

Hiltunen, E. 2010. Weak signals in organizational futures learning. Acta unviersitatis oeconomicae Helsingiensis. Helsinki. p-365

Ibis Geography, 1987. Growing degree suitability. URL:

https://ibis.geog.ubc.ca/courses/klink/class02/apirzade/growingdegrees.htm. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Jeffrey, T.P. 2016. 'First time in human history': People 65 and older will outnumber children under 5. Cnsnews. URL: https://www.cnsnews.com/news/article/terence-p-jeffrey/first-time-human-history-global-population-over-65-poised-pass. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Jaeger, G. 2000. The customer is always right...right? URL: www.winebusiness.com/ html/MonthlyPrinterFriendly.cfm?issueID ¼ 25891&aid ¼ 25231. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Jones, G.V. 2005. Climate change and the global wine industry. South Oregon university. p. 1-2 Kim, E., Fiore, A.M & Kim, H. 2014. Fashion trends- Analysis and forecasting. Bloomsbury. London.

Kelley, K., Bruwer, J., Zelinskie, J., Gardner, D., Govindasamy, R., Hyde, J. & Rickard, B. 2019. Wine consumers' willingness to adopt environmentally friendly packaging practices at tasting rooms: an echaid analysis. British food journal, 122, 1. Laczniak, G.G., & Murphy, P.E. 1992. Ethical marketing decisions: The higher road. Pearson education, p. 47.

Lecour, S., Blackhurst, D., & Marais, D. 2006. Lowering the degree of alcohol in red wine does not alter its cardioprotective effect. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology, 40, 6, p. 997-998.

Lockshin, L., & Corsi, A.M. 2012. Consumer behaviour for wine 2.0: A review since 2003 and future directions. Wine economic and policy, 1, 1, p. 2-23.

Lyon, T.P. & Montgomery, A.W. 2015. The means and end of greenwash. Organization & Environment, 28, 2, p. 223-249.

Ma, T. Wang, J. Wang, H. Qinyu, Z. & Qian, G. 2022. Wine aging and artificial simulated wine aging: Technologies, applications, challenges, and perspectives. Food research international. Vol. 153. p. 1-3.

Maniatis, P. 2016. Investigating factors influencing consumer decision-making while choosing green products. Journal of cleaner products, 132, p. 215-228.

Mansson, P. 2000. A tale of two countries. URL: http://winespectator.com/Wine/Main/ Feature_basic-Template_print/0,2462.871,00.html. Accessed: 21.11.2022. Mei, L., & Wang, Q. 2020. Advances in using nanotechnology structuring approaches for improving food packaging. Annual review of food science and technology. vol. 11.

Menzel, A. & Fabian, P. 1999. Growing season extended in Europe. Nature. p- 397. Merriam-Webster. Definition of a trend. URL: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/trend. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Mielonen, M. 2016. Kohtuuden aika on ohi- kaikki viina onkin pahasta. Helsingin Sanomat. URL: https://www.hs.fi/tiede/art-2000002921239.html. Acessed: 21.11.2022.

Minzer, S., Estruch, R., & Casas, R. 2020. Wine intake in the framework of a Mediterranean diet and chronic non-communicable diseases: A short literature review over the last 5 years. Molecules, 25, 21, p. 5045.

Naisbitt, J. 1982. Megatrends. The new directions transforming our lives. Warner books. New York. Okaru, A.O. & Lachenmeir, D.W. 2022. Defining No and Low (NoLo) Alcohol Products. MDPI. Faculty of health and sciences, University of Nairobi.

Pancer, E., McShane, L., & Noseworthy, T.J. 2017. Isolated environmental cues and product efficiency penalties: the colour green and eco-labels. Journal of business ethics, 143, 1, p. 159-177

Pappalardo, G., Di Zita, G., Zanchini, R., La via, G. & D'Amico, M. 2019. Do consumers care about antioxidants in wine? The role of naturally resveratrol-enriched wines in potential health-conscious drinkers' preferences. British food journal, 122, 8.

Phillips, P.C. 2010. The mysteries of trend. Cowles foundation or research in economics at Yale university. 1771. p- 2 URL:

PTY. 2022. Selkeä enemmistö haluaisi viinit ruokakauppoihin. URL: pty.fi/selkeaenemmistohaluaisi-viinit-ruokakauppoihin/. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Richardson, O. 2005. Wine marketing: modelling the ethics of wine industry using qualitative data. Qualitative market research: an international journal, 8, 4, p. 440-447.

Robertson, J., Ferreira, C. & Botha, E. 2018. The influence of product knowledge on the relative importance of extrinsic product attributes of wine. Journal of wine research. vol. 29. p. 159-176. Rogers, E.M. 2010. Diffusion of innovations. 4th edition. Simon & Schuster. Boston.

Ruan, B. & Gross, N. 1943. The diffusion of hybrid seed corn in two lowa communities. Rural sociology. lowa.

Rämö, M. 2007. Rakas humala. Ylioppilaslehti. URL: https://ylioppilaslehti.fi/2007/04/rakashumala/. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Sanguansri, P. & Augustin. M.A. 2006. Nanoscale material development- a food industry perspective. Trends in food & science technology. vol. 17. p. 547-548.

Sardar, Z. & Sweeney, J.A. 2016. The three tomorrows of postnormal times. Futures, 75. p- 1-13. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S001632871500138X. Accessed: Siddle, R. 2021. Emerging drinks industry trends. Just-drinks. p. 1-5.

Sjöland, C., Vernerback., Sundqvist, M., & Hägglund, T. 2021. Report on soil health and biodiversity. Ecogain. p. 4-28.

Sogari, G., Pucci, T., Aquilani, B. & Zanni, L. 2017. Millennial generation an environmental sustainability: the role of social media in the consumer behaviour for wine. Sustainability, 9, 10. p. 1911. Sun, X., Dang, G., Ding, X., Shen, C., Liu, G., Zuo, C., Chen, X., Xing, W., & Jin, W. 2020. Production of alcohol-free wine and grape spirit by pervopation membrane technology, 123, p. 262-273.

Sutanonpaiboon, J. & Atkins, T. 2012. Using region to market wine to international consumers. Journal of food products marketing. Vol. 18. p. 1-18.

Taghikhah, F., Voinov, A., Shukla, N. & Filatova, T. 2021. Shifts in consumer behaviour towards organic products: theory-driven data analytics. Journal of retailing and consumer services, 61. The University of Newcastle. 2020. *"Research methods: What are research methods?"*. Library guide. URL: https://libguides.newcastle.edu.au/researchmethods. Accessed: Vecchio, R., Rinaldi, A. & Moio, L. 2019. Does the denomination taste better in wine? British food journal. 121, 12.

Vejlgaard, H. 2008. Anatomy of a trend. Confetti Publishing. Newcastle.

Vigar-Ellis, D., Pitt, L. & Berthon, P. 2015. Knowing what they know: A managerial perspective on consumer knowledge. Business horizon. Vol. 58. p. 679-685. Viinimaa. Lyhyt opas eettisten ja ekologisten viinien maailmaan. URL: https://viinimaa.fi/artikkelit/lyhyt-opas-eettisten-ja-ekologisten-viinien-maailmaan#6a9bdb20.

Accessed: Wiebe, R.J. 2000. The new business ethics. URL: www.cda-adc.ca/jcda/vol-66/issue-5/ 248.html. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Wiedman, K.P., Behrens, S., Klarmann, C. & Hennigs, N. 2014. Customer value perception: crossgenerational preferences for wine. British food journal. 116, 7.

Wikipedia the free encyclopaedia. Whole genome sequencing. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Whole_genome_sequencing. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

World health organization. 2018. Global status report on alcohol and health. URL: https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report /en/. Accessed: WOSA. 2002. Code of practice of the ethical trade association for the Western Cape wine industry. URL: www.wosa.co.za/documents/COGP.doc. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Yokessa, M., & Marette, S. 2019. A review of eco-labels and their environmental impact. International review of environmental and resource economics, 13, 1-2, p. 119-120. Quality research international. 2022. Researching the real world: A guide to methodology. URL: https://www.qualityresearchinternational.com/methodology/RRW4pt5Analysing.php. Accessed: 21.11.2022.

Appendices

Appendix 1. Qualitative interview questions

Interview

Consumer trends

- 1. What consumer trends are anticipated to maintain or build popularity in the future?
- 2. Can you name any arising consumer trends?
- 3. What has changed in the consumer behaviour in the past years

Megatrends and weak signals

- 4. What megatrend is likely to have the most impact on the wine market in the future?
- 5. How likely it is for megatrends to shift the power relations of wine producing countries in the future?
- 6. Are there any weak signals that could lead to surprising trends?

Wine trends

- 7. What criteria will consumers have when choosing wines in the future?
- 8. How significant trends are in proportion to overall sales?
- 9. How do wine producers attract new customers in the future?